




  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

1 
 

Mashpee Planning Board 

 Minutes of Meeting 

Wednesday, January 03, 2023 at 7:00PM 

Mashpee Town Hall - Waquoit Meeting Room 

16 Great Neck Road North 

Mashpee, Ma 02649 

 

Broadcast Live on Local Channel 8  

Call-in Conference Number: (508)-539-1400 x 8585 

Streamed Live on the Town of Mashpee website 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel -8 

 

Present: Chair Karen Faulkner, Mary Waygan, Dennis Balzarini, Mike Richardson, Dale 

Oakley, Robert (Rob) Hansen 

Also Present: Evan Lehrer – Town Planner, Alexis Lanzillotta – Barrett Consulting Group  

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairwoman Faulkner called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 7:00PM. The 

Pledge of Allegiance was recited.  

 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES – December 20, 2023   

Mr. Lehrer had a question relative to the motion made for approving Ockway Highlands 

Special Permit. He is not certain that the list provided for the as built plan was totally captured. 

He also omitted that as a condition in the draft. He will correct and Board Secretary will review 

motion and update the Board to be able to finalize for next time.  

It should read:  
MOTION:   

Ms. Waygan made a motion to waive the requirement on the condition the 
Board receives a limited as built plan of record showing lots, location of concrete 
bounds, surface location of catch basins and drain manholes, entrances to driveways, 
common mailbox, telephone poles, edge of pavements, edge of slope of detention 
basins, existing structures (where visible), and inlets to retention basins. Seconded by 
Mr. Richardson. All in favor. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT  

Glenn McCarthy- Ms. Faulkner read a submission from Mr. McCarthy, he would like to 

consider adding a statement to facilitate the accurate provision of drainage and sewage and 

protect existing. Consider changing the sentence to forbid the extension of existing non-

conformities. It should read no extension or non-conformity should be issued without a 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel%20-8


  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

2 
 

variance from the Zoning Board of Appeals for all properties, except those in floodplain. Pond 

neighborhoods should be eliminated and make a stricter standard for the entire town. 

Subsection A, consider defining increasing intensity of a setback more clearly. The second 

group is for all properties within the floodplain zone and Poppy Overlay. Consider forbidding 

the continuing or extending or altering preexisting nonconformities when rebuilding. This was 

the standard for decades until it was changed to enable development. If expansions of non-

conformities will be allowed in the floodplain or in Poppy Overlay, then consider more clearly 

defining the increases in the sizes of the buildings footprint. Consider language where a 

complete rebuild triggers coming into compliance.  

 

Ms. Faulkner shared from others, as several people called her about this, asking that the bylaw 

be simplified to a third grade level. She is going to ask the Town Planner and will refer back to 

this later.  

 

Marjorie Hecht- There is a flaw in an otherwise good proposal. While giving more protection to 

ocean front, it does nothing to address severe environmental overbuilding on lakes, ponds, 

marshes, and other wetlands. Explicitly include the necessity to protect all Mashpee’s waters. 

Going into the next phase of sewer, there is no sense to move forward with a bylaw that would 

allow an increase in pollution. It has been a burden on tax payers to clean up the waters. 

Stricter standards to Poppy should go to the other ends of town. Having two standards makes 

no sense, also speaks to simplifying. All areas around water bodies need protection. Water 

quality is already fragile in our ponds. Aside from town wide sewer, no present septic system 

technology avoids adding to the pollution problem. Instituting one Raze and Replace standard 

will make the bylaw simpler and fair. We need to protect the middle income majority 

population, protect the summer tourism, if our waters are polluted people won’t come to swim, 

and we need to protect the history, and small town character.  

 

Lynne Barbee- She has spent hours attending ZBA meetings, where they accommodate 

builders not the neighborhoods.  She recalled the Board and one attorney talking about bylaws 

to make building easier. We need a new and restrictive bylaw. The Zoning Board has too much 

discretion to approve. The term ‘not substantially detrimental’ currently rests in the opinion of 

the ZBA and attorneys. With the goal of reducing non-conforming structures, having two sets 

of standards for different parts of town makes no sense. We witness what has become of our 

town. The town deserves better zoning regulations.  

 

Colton Atkinson- He would like to explore zoning changes to be inclusive of duplexes and 

multi-unit houses. Some key points are duplexes and multifamily residences can reduce land 

usage, have less tree area clear cutting, and preserve the environment of surrounding 

buildings. An increase in density helps reduce costs of sewer per person. The missing middle 

would have slightly higher density. Consider adding language that allows zoning changes in 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

3 
 

areas that have received sewer, instead of increasing septic. Also consider eliminating parking 

minimums in residential areas in its entirety and increasing impervious surfaces.    

 

Ms. Faulkner asked the Town Planner if he would consider giving an example of each 

paragraph written so people can understand the Raze and Replace. Illustrations help. The last 

point was to put penalties on people who are not following. It was answered that any zoning 

violation is $300.00 a day every day the violation exists.   

 

Mr. Lehrer said a diagram is easily implemented, what is challenging is simplifying land use 

specific jargon to something that is understood and already defined in the bylaw via the 

terminology section. That proves complicated when trying to use language consistent with 

zoning act itself. He can produce a diagram to demonstrate what each section is 

contemplating.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Ockway Highlands  

Deferred to next meeting to ensure the decision is correct. The Board has 90 days to file this 

decision.  

 

Continue Review and Discussion of Draft Housing Production Plan  

Mr. Lehrer will arrange a follow up meeting with the Select Board. Each zoning strategy was 

contemplated and developed by the Affordable Housing Committee, staff, and consultants. His 

takeaways from the LCP engagement and HPP was a desire for housing diversity, reuse 

existing buildings and housing stock, and accommodate a diversity of housing typologies 

within wastewater limitations. It must contemplate zoning strategies. It is important to 

understand what the primary issues are and relate them to specific findings, refine or remove, 

or add strategies around vision for housing development. We are confronted with wastewater 

and nutrient pollution, challenged by the housing market, with variable impacts across the local 

economy. We need to strike a balance between these realities. We are limited in our abilities to 

produce housing bound by density contemplated in that water shed plan. These strategies in 

place are already restricted.  

 

Ms. Waygan answered it is not our place to change the CWNP, as this is a five year plan. 

Since we have just started implementing the nitrogen management plan, we cannot also 

change the clean water actions when we just started them. We are not sure they are going to 

work. It will take time to see if these sewers will work, we won’t know right away.  

 

Mr. Balzarini commented it takes 20 years for nitrogen to leach out after a sewer is installed. 

We might not see any reduction for 15 years. He would like to hold off on some of these items 

and refer back to two years after the sewer is implemented.   



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

4 
 

Ms. Waygan noted our LCP survey had water as the most concerning topic.  

 

Ms. Faulkner delved into survey results with the most serious problem facing Mashpee 

according to residents. The first problem at 87% is water quality, next was traffic, cost of living 

was 71%, climate change ranked 67%, housing concerned 62%, and 68% chose loss of open 

space. We shouldn’t be tinkering with the plan, there are just too many unknowns. If we keep 

the existing bylaw with multi units, 40,000 s.f. for two units with two bedrooms. There can be a 

variance if someone wants to add a bedroom.   

 

Mr. Lehrer stated they issue variances, however, absent of a variance, the density prescribed 

in the bylaw is for 4 bedrooms with 40,000s.f. by right. You cannot have 5 or 6 bedrooms 

without the issue of a variance. Hardships are defined.  

 

HPP consultant Alexis Lanzillotta stated the Sewer Commission has a provision for how to 

issue a variance. The BOH has not updated their current regulations for septic online. Title 5 

updates will be brought online with the needs of sewer and current capacities within sewer. 

Prioritizing affordable housing in consideration of variances in tandem with sewer. That is one 

thing that could be done within sewer regulation.  

 

Ms. Waygan is not advocating for changing the CWNP at this time. For affordable housing, we 

would like variances to consider affordable housing as a means for a variance. That would 

cover a Ch. 40B development.   

 

Mr. Lehrer stated the Sewer Commission’s plan is to provide future amendments. We should 

consider a conversation relative to affordable housing goals and the ability or desire.  

 

Ms. Faulkner noted the HPP goes beyond affordable housing. She found number 7 to be 

upsetting, with the taking out of the two family home by right in residential districts. We need to 

explore different zoning mechanisms. First bullet, establish overlay areas that would allow 

town houses. Recommendations for proposed changes include a form based code overlay if 

desired, in areas with suitable wastewater or planned infrastructure. This is commonly 

identified as building types in the missing middle.  

 

Ms. Waygan mentioned the priority lies within properties located in areas that don’t allow 

housing, such as commercial.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted the scale would be larger. If there is a desire for smaller housing typologies, 

there currently are no overlays proposed, we need to evaluate the potential across town.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

5 
 

Ms. Faulkner added if there is no sewer in certain areas we would not consider increasing 

density.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated in cities there are apartments, single family homes, small four unit 

buildings, and it’s all building types that aren’t cottage court or ADU. The word she is looking 

for is infill. Hyannis has used this for properties that have nothing there, allowing for missing 

middle living, triplexes and quadplexes. Design and architecture allows it to look nice. Ms. 

Waygan likes combining strategies 1 and 2, people are going to look to where we are sewering 

and commercially developed. This concept cannot be in the heart of a single family home 

neighborhood, an ideal area would be Rt. 130.   

 

Ms. Lanzillotta clarified the term striking the bylaw was misplaced and is intended to go under 

strategy 14 with OSID.  

 

Ms. Faulkner commented about number 3, allowing existing single family homes to be turned 

into small multifamily homes by permit. The concept of converting existing buildings. It would 

have to be a big home in order to succeed. 

 

Mr. Lehrer stated a 7 bedroom house could consider converting that existing house to 7 one 

bedroom apartments. We could operate within the confines and use existing stock to create 

that typology.  

 

Ms. Lanzillotta gave an example of a beautiful captain’s home that was converted into 6 

condos. This addressed a missing type of housing, which is also what the HPP is intended to 

create, other housing needs, while also keeping in mind the 10% goal.  

 

Ms. Waygan would like to add some type of parking control.   

 

Mr. Lehrer stated this all depends on existing conditions of that specific lot. He would not 

recommend removing this as a potential strategy. All construction would need to adhere to 

modern building codes.  

 

Ms. Faulkner stated we need to allow two family homes in residential districts. Ms. Waygan 

does not like strategy 4, we have the ADU bylaw, we should stick with that and see what that 

produces. Four is being stricken for now.  

 

Ms. Faulkner commented strategy five needs to be amended to allow existing residential 

beyond what is allowed in current zoning.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

6 
 

Ms. Lanzillotta elaborated the only way that can be accomplished is through the open space 

incentive, or cluster development. If you take some of those allowances back, like under OSID 

or under cluster, it makes it easier.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated OSID and cluster each have a minimum provision of open space, at 50% 

land area. OSID can only be done with 20 acres or more, open space is 5 acres or more. Open 

space is on or off sight. This considers building types that would be allowed to benefit from a 

cluster. This could be accomplished by pairing a housing diversity goal with a special permit.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented we need to be able to hand off this approved plan to the building 

department and they follow the plans and look at the buildings. We have reviewed 

infrastructure and roads, if we don’t do that under special permit we have to have someone do 

it. The benefit to a special permit is that staff are not doing reviews, it is done by a public 

board, abutters comment, and an engineer helps. The applicant also pays for the engineer. If 

we make it by right we are having the town pay.  

 

Ms. Lanzillotta commented OSID could take place anywhere. Cluster is not allowed across 

residential but within cluster development project.  

 

Ms. Faulkner is thinking of Tudor Terrace. If 3 town houses were built there, how could they 

achieve aesthetics in that neighborhood?  

 

Mr. Lehrer reminded anything 5 acres or more requires clusters. Why not take advantage of 

building types while maintaining the open space recreation component. We should not remove 

the potential without looking at requirements or seeing all options. He often refers to cottage 

courts, a lovely building typology. We need to be able to generate much more units at the 

same density while meeting a need for housing units. Strategy one is establishing unique 

overlays. Cluster is residential building so it would be variable across R3 and R5, wherever 

cluster subdivisions are allowed.  

 

Ms. Lanzillotta agreed, it would be evaluating what would be compatible.  

 

Ms. Faulkner moved onto strategy 6, more buildable starter homes, smaller lot sizes, and 

diversifying stock by not increasing single family home production.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated it would be beneficial to do a survey of undersized lots to see if we could 

introduce an affordable housing bylaw. This would need to wait until sewer came online. She 

would be in support of an affordable bylaw.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

7 
 

Ms. Lanzillotta commented the original strategy was reducing dimensional requirements. They 

looked to see where this would make sense.   

 

Mr. Oakley noted a starter home is diversifying the stock. That could look like a different type 

of home, starter homes target young families or a young couple.   

 

Ms. Waygan rephrased her desire for the affordable bylaw by adding starter homes as well. 

We should conduct an analysis of residential lots, for an affordable or starter home bylaw.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented the cluster subdivision bylaw, lot size is what the board sees as 

appropriate in an effort to maximize open space.  

 

Ms. Lanzillotta stated for strategy five, small affordable lots on unbuildable lots, the first step is 

doing that analysis of unbuildable land. A developer still has to have ‘x’ amount of land to 

preserve open space.  

 

Ms. Waygan noted we just need to do the study. It may produce 10 lots. We don’t even know 

the magnitude of the impact.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated we cannot exceed zoning, on 2 acre zoning if you have 6 acres you are not 

getting more than 3 dwellings, regardless of lot size. We consider the initiative to allow 

additional lots for open space. It would have to be paired to an incentive for additional units. 

His age group is stuck, with no mobility in the current market. We create housing types with 

existing stock of single family starter homes, people have nowhere to go. If we focus on 

strategies that reignite some mobility, it opens up more opportunities.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated the affordable bylaw targeted these lots, subdivisions where people bought 

two lots so they could put a backyard and build. We should try and allow the homeowner to 

build on the next lot to be able to sell to someone in their family or sell to low or moderate 

income households.  

 

Mr. Lehrer reminded that affordability will unlikely change without stock. Over the years he has 

received many phone calls from families who inherited lots and are interested in selling the lot. 

He has to break the news that with zoning changes the lot has merged and it’s not worth 

anything.  

 

Ms. Waygan restated the desire to conduct an analysis of small or unbuildable lots in town to 

explore the potential for an affordable lot bylaw or starter home lot bylaw.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

8 
 

Ms. Lanzillotta commented solely based on assessors records not looking at wetlands, there 

are 371 undevelopable lots.   

 

Mr. Lehrer can definitively say, the assessor’s records do not consider mergers, so that 

number is likely larger.  

 

Ms. Waygan would like to see a list of lots, but it needs to be used for year round housing, 

modestly sized, and priced reasonably, by special permit to add all special things.  

 

Mr. Lehrer discussed inclusionary zoning, if any strategies are implemented, it should be 

coupled and some portion of the market rate has to be restricted and included. We have goals 

to improve pedestrian mobility in this town.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated Barnstable County Home Consortium has representatives for each town. 

They get an entitlement with select projects to fund. LeClair Village got a sum of money.  

 

Ms. Waygan continued that strategy 14 should be replaced with transfer of development bylaw 

involving open space. It needs to be rewritten, the transfer of development bylaw but with open 

space. She loves the idea of getting open space, and we multiply your development rights on 

that piece of open space, into that development.  

 

Ms. Lanzillotta stated a replace with a transfer by right open space town wide. Any 

conversation about water quality and housing needs to happen now, a strategy about 

engaging in conversations with these other entities. Prioritize affordable housing development 

with respect to water.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated community preservation money can be used in other towns. She is fine 

with that as long as the host town officially votes to approve incoming funds. There are specific 

towns that the state is looking at. The pathway involves community preservation money and 

spending their 10% by giving it to the Affordable Housing Trust. These are communities that do 

not want affordable housing in their town, so what’s to stop them from spending it in another 

town? We need to put something in there where we can pool CPA money. We gave money to 

the development in Dennis for provision of disabled adults.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented strategy 21, we need to remain up to date on state and regional 

funding opportunities. DHCD became an executive office. Strategy 22, varies by household 

size, right now there are not subsidies to support that. The workforce housing program offers a 

certain amount per unit. In order to fund projects or ownership at 150% there are no funding 

sources, but there is a clear need. It is not eligible for subsidies but we are meeting a 

community need, while we would also need to establish a funding source   



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

9 
 

Ms. Lanzillotta stated Chatham has a home petition to establish another housing trust that is 

for community housing. It is not authorized under Mass Law and will fund projects up to 200% 

of AMI approved at state level. The Governor’s Housing Bond Bill for seasonal communities 

will have more flexibility and more opportunities for seasonal communities to establish funding 

streams for different income levels. Would Mashpee want to establish such a fund? Median 

income does not come close to touching median housing price.  

 

Ms. Waygan said this can be funded with a tax for properties that sell over $2Million dollars.  

 

Mr. Oakley suggested a program that would assist with the down payment and closing costs, 

as that tends to be a barrier.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented so many of these programs are limited to the production of affordable. 

The credit programs incentivize developers because many affordable units are providing a 

significant cost burden. There is a growing affordability gap in excess of AMI, cannot afford to 

enter or stay, and do not qualify for affordable.  

 

Ms. Waygan has a couple comments for page 28, where it lists the complexes like Sea Oaks, 

Sandalwood, Pheasant Run, and Hollow Woods, etc. List apartments for affordable and note 

those are all affordable, but there are also staggering apartments in Mashpee Commons that 

are market rate that are the original, not Ch. 40B. We do have some diversity so people can go 

and drive to these places and see what it feels like. Page 38, barriers are listed for affordable, 

lack of developable land needs to be noted. We have very limited developable land, 14% of 

land region wide is left for development or the preservation of open space. There are also 

major environmental constraints. We don’t have clean water in town, it’s a huge barrier to all 

development. Our water bodies are polluted and we are going to be asking people for money 

to build infrastructure?  

 

Ms. Lanzillotta noted in theory it could require a recalculation, but beyond the scope of this, 

advocating for these conversations with water protection and land use need to commence.  

 

Ms. Faulkner commented this will not be possible until sewer and that will be happening for 

years.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated environmental conditions are bad. We decided we are not going to build 

out. Regarding the HPP, we know we need it, but this is important for the state to know that 

our environmental conditions are in there. When she attends state wide meetings it is hard for 

them to grasp why the Cape is so behind on this effort. Our environment is so fragile and we 

are trying to protect it.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

10 
 

Ms. Lanzillotta noted mitigations, but it really is about engaging in conversations about 

prioritizing for affordable with variances.   

 

Ms. Waygan stated there is a nitrogen plan that is catching up to all this pollution that was 

caused by residential building. That needs to be documented for the state level as some of 

their expectations are aggressive.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented the analysis relative to existing cost burdened homes is in excess of 

1,000 units. That’s the real need, but the 10% is 347 units. We need to consider the language 

we utilize and the magnitude of the environmental and housing problems. He doesn’t want to 

minimize either one, as each issue is huge. He would hate to have ignored this issue for too 

long and end up with a completely unsustainable economy.  

 

Ms. Waygan discussed page 57, and following the December meeting it was stated the draft 

will go out to the public, for example, the footnote about the number of unbuildable lots. More 

information is coming before we take a formal vote.  

 

Mr. Lehrer submitted a draft plan Saturday to the Cape Cod Commission. That draft will be 

provided in its totality, before you have to vote, and it is going out for public comment.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated the survey information helped.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented the joint meeting with the Select Board will be Monday January 8th at 

6:00 or 6:30p.m., he will follow up once confirmed.  

 

OLD BUSINESS  

Continue review of draft implementation of the Local Comprehensive Plan Update  

January 17th there will be a 5:30p.m. start time for the Planning Board meeting.  

Topics to be discussed will include Economic Development, Housing, and Municipal Buildings.  

 

CHAIRWOMANS REPORT  

Water Quality Report 

Ms. Faulkner passed around a document explaining how long it takes the environment to 

disposal certain items, such as cigarettes or diapers.  

 

TOWN PLANNER REPORT  

Status of LCP Draft Chapters 

Mr. Lehrer is starting to get draft chapters. The existing conditions chapter is inclusive of 

policies and conditions, there were some comments pertaining to information that has 

changed. He has given it out to members to read and go over and he would like to go over the 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

11 
 

implementation table and edit this document together. Ms. Faulkner informed everyone to hold 

onto these items.  

 

Mr. Lehrer had a formatting question under Transportation, there was odd spacing because of 

maps, if he were to fix spacing the results for the maps would not end up on the same page. 

He is looking for feedback for that as well.  

 

BOARD COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Cape Cod Commission-  A draft on the Regional Housing Strategy has been issued. 

They are looking for comments by Jan. 19th. She is going to 

ask for a formal Public Comment of no less than 30 days. 

She was given the link to the strategy and was told to give to 

anyone for comment.   

Charter Review Committee-   No Meeting  

Community Preservation  

Committee-    No Meeting  

Design Review-     No Meeting  

Plan Review-     No Meeting  

Environmental Oversight  

Committee-    No Meeting  

Historic District Commission-  No Meeting  

 

 

ADJOURNMENT  

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to adjourn the meeting of the Planning Board at 9:23p.m. 

Seconded by Ms. Waygan. All in favor.  

 

 

Next Meeting: Wednesday, January 17, 2023 @ 5:30p.m.  

 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

 

Christine M. MacDonald  

Board Secretary  

 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

12 
 

LIST OF DOCUMENTS  

Additional documents may be available in the Planning Department.  

- November 2023 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N = 1.4  

- 33 Sturgis Lane MassDEP Waterways License Application No. 23-WW-PRE-0073-APP 

- Town of Barnstable Notices  

- Town of Falmouth Notices  

- Town of Sandwich Notices  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

1 
 

Mashpee Planning Board 

 Minutes of Meeting 

Wednesday, January 17, 2024 at 5:30PM 

Mashpee Town Hall - Waquoit Meeting Room 

16 Great Neck Road North 

Mashpee, Ma 02649 

 

Broadcast Live on Local Channel 8  

Call-in Conference Number: (508)-539-1400 x 8585 

Streamed Live on the Town of Mashpee website 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel -8 

 

Present: Chair Karen Faulkner, Mary Waygan, Dennis Balzarini, Mike Richardson, Dale 

Oakley, Robert (Rob) Hansen 

Also Present: Evan Lehrer – Town Planner, Jack McElhinney – Attorney for Willowbend 

Present via Zoom: Donald Pinto – Civil Zoning Litigator for Willowbend, Matthew Eddy – 

Baxter Nye Engineering & Surveying, Patrick Costello – Mashpee Town Counsel   

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairwoman Faulkner called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 5:30PM. The 

Pledge of Allegiance was recited.  

 

LOCAL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE 

Continue Review and Discussion of Draft Implementation Table 

Mr. Lehrer encouraged the Board to keep reviewing the implementation table, it was not able 

to be discussed this evening but will be at a further date.    

 

Review and Discussion of the Most Recently Updated Draft Elements 

 

Housing  

Ms. Waygan noted it’s not necessarily affordable, unlike the HPP. She looked back in the 

current LCP and HPP, as well as survey results and public comments. She redlined and added 

items to be discussed this evening. There are goals, policies, and actions. Every action should 

tie back to a policy and every policy should tie back to a goal.  

 

Goals:  

1. Ensure Mashpee residents have access to safe, decent, affordable housing, and diverse 

housing options.  

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel%20-8


  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

2 
 

2. Ensure that sustainable and environmentally sensitive practices are integrated into all 

housing development decisions to create a safer, more resilient, and healthier housing stock 

and populous.  

3. Ensure fair and equal opportunity in housing.  

4. Create affordable housing to meet the states 10% mandate.  

5. Create housing that maintains Mashpee’s small town character.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated actions H19 and H20 didn’t have a goal, so she made one to match those 

actions.  

 

Mr. Richardson asked how one defines small town character. How do readers interpret that? 

We don’t want to make ourselves insignificant. Ms. Waygan stated the term goes back and 

forth between the terms rural and small town, and we settled on small town. It is also used in 

the vision statement so it’s consistent.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented that the housing strategies identified comes down to building types like 

scale and density.  

 

Mr. Balzarini thinks the 10% is a fairy tale, unreachable. Mr. Lehrer believes it can be 

achieved. Under CH. 40B, 370 units isn’t too far outside of what is possible through the 

potential pipeline of town projects. Ms. Waygan said the denominator changes only every ten 

years because it runs off of the census. Ms. Waygan provided Falmouth as an example where 

they are looking to add 900 units on Sandwich Rd.  

 

Policies:  

1. Promote redevelopment of stripped developments and underutilized properties (gray fields) 

into compact, walkable, village center style, and pedestrian friendly mixed use neighborhoods 

that provide a variety of housing types.  

2. Maximize the town’s potential to provide SHI (Subsidized Housing Inventory) eligible, deed 

restricted, affordable units by using town owned property.  

3. Expand the diversity of housing types to provide all residents with appropriate shelter.  

4. (Moved to Action). Diligently and efficiently monitor and enforce inclusionary zoning 

requirements, provide professional oversight for any locally run housing programs, and nurture 

relationships with the community.  

5. Incentivize the production of ADUs.  

6. Implement sustainable building practices for all construction and redevelopment.  

7. Minimize housing vulnerabilities to climate change and natural disasters.  

8. Preserve existing housing stock for year round use.  

9. Create work force housing, primarily linked to support Mashpee based businesses.  

10. Prevent evictions, relocation, and housing loss of Mashpee residents.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

3 
 

11. Minimize or mitigate the impacts of seasonal and short term rentals on the local housing 

market. 

12. Regularly audit the Mashpee Zoning Bylaw to ensure land use regulations are not in 

conflict with the patterns of development and redevelopment desired by the community.  

13. Encourage joint housing efforts with the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe.  

14. Increase the town’s capacity to create affordable housing.  

15. Create year round housing.  

16. Work to resolve conflicts between housing needs and the degradation of groundwater, 

drinking water, and open water. 

 

Ms. Faulkner asked what was meant by single use in the original language. Mr. Lehrer 

explained no mixture of uses, only commercial or only housing. Ms. Waygan noted a gray field 

is developed and run down, it could range from shabby to vacant to condemnable. The state is 

trying to coin the word.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted there are specific actions that support specific policies, in speaking of the 

goal of 10%, actions would be defined as a traffic study that then leads to a feasibility study.  

 

Ms. Faulkner would like a reminder on inclusionary zoning requirements. Mr. Lehrer stated it’s 

a policy to set aside units that are restricted amongst other market rate houses. In a cluster 

subdivision, for every 10 lots created, one lot must be affordable. That is an inclusionary 

zoning, basically different levels of income.   

 

Ms. Waygan said sustainable means energy efficiency. Mr. Lehrer noted the different between 

H6 is about energy and H7 is about structural resilience.   

 

Ms. Faulkner asked about preserving housing stock. Ms. Waygan stated there could be a tax 

break given to people who rent their house year round. There could be a mortgage assistance 

program. In Mashpee, 70% of units are used year round, we try to maintain that percentage.  

 

Mr. Lehrer changed H9 to incorporate the word support when discussing the employer being 

the creator of affordable or workforce housing. Employer created housing is becoming more 

popular in this market but he doesn’t want to limit the onus on the employer. He doesn’t want 

to only prioritize this if the employer is the creator. We want workforce housing to support our 

local economy. Many are evaluating, but it does pose a challenge. We should have the policy 

be very clear we want to support the businesses but won’t expect them to be producers.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated if we had town owned land and develop a site, maybe phase one is 100% 

affordable, but maybe phase two should be 25% affordable and 75% market rate. The town 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

4 
 

could put a local preference to Mashpee work force. Those market rate houses do not get 

added to the SHI.   

 

Mr. Lehrer stated there are actions to support H10. We support local agencies that provide 

services, or with rental or heating assistance.  

 

Ms. Waygan noted H14 relates to the action of having a town position or staff person.  

Mr. Hansen stated regarding the need for affordable, should there be something in the HPP 

that states let’s not promote single family housing, lets minimize it. There is a way of controlling 

that numerator.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated we are saturated with single family homes. Policies and actions are focusing 

on primarily building single family. We are not saying you cannot build, but we are incentivizing 

the creation of something else. We could establish a policy to discourage the growth of single 

family production. All zoning strategies are intended to affect change to the identified issue. 

We are placing a lot of weight behind inspiring the production of missing middle. We need to 

create mobility in the market place.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated it’s always been to promote housing diversity rather than prohibit. A lot of 

businesses and trades depend on single family homes. She wouldn’t want to stop Habitat for 

Humanity from coming and building lots through tax earnings.  

 

Actions: 

1. Conduct a visual preference study or other suitable engagement studies to determine types 

and styles of housing (architecture and site design standards) that is supported by the 

community.  

2. Procure a consultant to assist with community engagement and facilitate charrettes to 

support our development, architectural, and site design standards.  

3. Explore and potentially develop, adopt, and implement architectural and site design 

standards, or form based code, town wide, or in the form of an overlay district, with a priority 

for infill development and redevelopment of gray fields.  

4. Develop and adopt an inclusionary zoning bylaw that requires a minimum contribution of 

SHI eligible affordable units in exchange for bonus density.  

5. Change zoning to allow missing middle housing typologies in appropriate residential areas 

with the possibility of establishing new zoning districts to encourage development or 

redevelopment of these areas, encouraging where it is desirable, and discouraging where it is 

unsuitable.  

6. Regularly fund the Affordable Housing Trust to take advantage of opportunities that are 

consistent with the framework developed in the Housing Production Plan.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

5 
 

7. Update and adopt a Housing Production Plan with a focus on developing a road map and 

implementation plan for the development of the towns identified sites for affordable and 

workforce housing.  

8. Implement the Housing Production Plan strategies.  

9. Implement mechanisms to create year round rental housing such as financial assistance or 

donation of town owned land.  

10. Implement a mechanism to create affordable senior housing.  

11. Create a new position titled Affordable Housing Coordinator to implement the Housing 

Production Plan.  

12. Conduct regular workshops to inform property owners of the permitting process for ADUs.  

13. Assess ways for the private sector to contribute to ADUs.  

14. Establish a revolving loan fund to construct ADUs.  

15. Identify suitable sites for infill development outside of flood zones.  

16. Determine and address the housing needs of propriety demographics such as elderly, 

veterans, and disabled residents via a needs assessment.  

17. Coordinate with the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe and the Tribal Housing Department, to 

develop a local preference policy that would set aside any affordable dwelling units created by 

the town for Tribal members.   

18. (Moved to Policy) Require that large housing developments provide proffers to maintain the 

town’s small town character, such as open space. (Supported by H28) 

19. Identify mechanisms to create housing that serves Mashpee’s workforce or is linked to 

Mashpee based businesses.  

20. Clearly define all housing terms i.e. affordable housing, missing middle, infill, workforce 

housing, etc.  

21. Reestablish housing services such as financial assistance with rent, utilities, mortgage 

arrears, and first/last month’s payment for rental units, and other mechanisms to prevent 

homelessness.  

22. Evaluate engineering best practices pertaining to low impact development strategies and 

other nutrient removing storm water management mechanisms. 

23. Monitor the production of ADUs under current zoning to see if the units address the need 

for year round housing and seasonal employee housing.   

24. Use HPP Strategy for OSID here.   

25. Develop affordable housing standards for CH. 40B developments that are friendly and 

approved via the states local initiative program.  

26. Provide financial and technical assistance to the developers of affordable year round 

housing.  

27. Identify town owned land or acquired land that is suitable for the development of affordable 

housing eligible for the SHI.   

28. Establish a short term rental zoning bylaw to protect year round housing.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

6 
 

Mr. Lehrer noted the action of the visual study is intended to focus on certain areas, like C2. 

Ms. Waygan does not want it limited to redevelopment areas.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated he would love to see form based code but it is not the only mechanism, we 

can educate the community, but leave the door open to different approaches. With form based 

code, design standards become the regulatory mechanism. As we consider overlay, if site 

design criteria’s are adequate enough, we can achieve a similar outcome.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated the HPP contemplates amending cluster subdivisions to allow housing types 

and a re-evaluation of OSID, both requiring open space.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked how we preserve small town character, and stated in larger developments 

we would ask for proffers such as open space. She thinks open space and a lot of trees 

represents small town character. There ae zoning recommendations in the HPP, she will note 

to put the HPP action steps into the LCP.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented regarding the prospective Affordable Housing Coordinator that this 

person will have some policies and affordable housing standards, and that’s where these 

terms can be defined.  

 

Ms. Waygan moved on to the Flow Neutral Bylaw that will be enforced. This action was 

removed. Mr. Lehrer stated there will be further discussions on this bylaw. It does not need to 

be introduced by way of our report.  

 

Mr. Lehrer connected the goal of safe and sustainable environmentally sensitive practices to 

the policy of implementing sustainable building practices and minimizing vulnerabilities. The 

action would be monitor the efficacy or evaluate best practices of existing low impact to bolster 

those requirements as they evolve.  

 

Ms. Waygan noted there are two avenues for Chapter 40B. One avenue you go through Mass 

Housing and get the project eligibility letter and go to the ZBA. The other type you go to the 

local initiative program at the state level and they pre-approve the plan. Then it goes to the 

Affordable Housing Committee and gets pre-approved, then the Select Board pre-approves, 

and then the Zoning Board of Appeals. Friendly 40B you get into negotiations, and the 

developer only wants one bedrooms but the state wants 10% to have 3 bedrooms. If the town 

is in favor of one bedrooms, the town could advocate and it can be waived. We have standards 

to hand to the state that say this is what the town is looking for.  

 

Mr. Lehrer offered one more proposed action. He noted case law is growing clearer that towns 

should be zoning for short term rentals, we may want to establish a short term rental overlay 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

7 
 

district. We can limit them to certain districts or make it town wide. There have been appeals in 

the appellate court that note short term rentals in the use table, and we do not, but we should.  

 

Economic Development  

Ms. Faulkner noted Board members have the documents and can follow along and read at 

their leisure.  

Goals:  

1. Ensure a prosperous local economy that supports financial independence for all residents 

while ensuring Mashpee’s environmental quality, town character, and cultural heritage.  

2. Bolster support for local businesses, local agriculture, and emerging economic sectors such 

as the blue economy.   

3. Produce a stable and adequate local work force with education and affordable living. 

4. Meet or exceed the best available technological resources and infrastructure to ensure 

Mashpee is economically competitive in the region and state.  

 

Ms. Faulkner elaborated that there are five supports, one being open a small business office, 

but can the town afford that? In supporting local farmers, if some wanted they could become 

larger entities. Blue economy is the sustainable use of ocean resources for economic growth 

and improved livelihood, but we need to clean our waters. Mr. Lehrer noted the shellfish 

aquaculture is one mechanism currently being used.  

 

Ms. Faulkner elaborated a stable local work force in ED3 includes, childcare, transportation, 

affordable/attainable housing, education, and recreation. There are employers now that can 

afford this concept, such as Willowbend, allowing the attraction and retention of workers. She 

referenced a good article about choosing the right technology to support your municipality. If 

you have great infrastructure you create jobs and wealth.  

 

Policies:  

1. Provide financial and policy based support for local fishers and businesses.  

2. Work to minimize homelessness.  

3. Explore grant funding opportunities for projects that support Mashpee’s Economic 

Development goals.  

4. Prioritize economic development that creates jobs with a livable wage.  

5. Promote joint economic development effort with the Mashpee Wampanoag Tribe.  

6. Develop a Municipal Broadband Service.  

7. Leverage the assets of economic development in the industrial corporation to better meet 

the needs of the local economy.  

8. Minimize or remove barriers of entry for new startups or small businesses. (The rest of this 

proposed policy became two separate actions). 

9. Increase access to childcare for Mashpee’s workforce.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

8 
 

Mr. Lehrer noted financial support would mean access to funding, such as providing revolving 

loans for storefront or signage improvements. That would be an action. Policy based would be 

to create a regulatory environment that is more streamlined or affordable. Many local 

businesses asked for by right zoning. That would be one such policy based support.  

 

Ms. Faulkner read the Cape Cod homeless population is consistent from year to year, in 2019 

it was 371, though that number seems small. She defined livable wage as being a socially 

acceptable level of income that provides adequate coverage for basic necessities such as 

food, shelter, child services, and healthcare, without reliance on outside assistance.  

 

Ms. Faulkner noted there is an effort to bring affordable high speed internet to the 

municipalities and everyone in Massachusetts.  

 

Mr. Lehrer elaborated that Falmouth is conducting a Feasibility Study to engage in a municipal 

broadband effort. This of course threatens the companies that offer this service. He has heard 

negative advertisements on the radio deterring this idea. Nashville has the fastest internet in 

the country and they are involved in municipal broadband. This policy was asked for by the 

Mashpee Cable and Advanced Technology Advisory Board.  

 

Ms. Faulkner would like to know if Mashpee is a labor surplus area. What are things that EDIC 

can do? Mr. Lehrer will come back with an answer in totality. Ms. Faulkner inquired how they 

have money. He believes they acquired their funds through a land disposition, where the town 

sold property. They have roughly $500,000. They should be leveraging those assets by 

conducting marketing campaigns that attract businesses to our town.    

 

Mr. Lehrer stated an action for Policy ED8 would be to streamline policies and the permitting 

process and consideration of by right zoning should also be an action.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted an example of someone speaking in favor of by right is the owner of Andy’s 

Market. He owns an establishment in Mashpee, Falmouth, and now Sandwich. Andy’s Market 

in Sandwich is by right zoning, which the town prescribes, and he testified that it saved him 

time and money and he would desire that incentive here. Mr. Lehrer referenced the use table, 

‘Y’ is seen for churches and single family homes, and everything else is SP. A permit granting 

authority such as the Planning Board or ZBA will specify a certain use, and if that use were to 

change, would be at the discretion of that SPGA. He ask the Board to consider the uses in the 

use table, Special Permit really is just about cosst. If we are trying to streamline the process 

and save businesses or potential entrepreneurs some money, this would be an avenue to do 

so.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

9 
 

Ms. Faulkner commented that Kids Klub is town owned. How would we increase it? They are 

maxed out and have a large waiting list. Mr. Lehrer stated there is an action that states expand 

Kids Klub, it could also mean getting more providers in Mashpee and having incentives to start 

these facilities, or certification costs to acquire licensing. Ms. Faulkner noted training courses 

for home based daycares.  

 

Actions:  

To be continued at the following meeting.  

 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES – January 03, 2024  

Deferred to the following meeting.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT  

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS  

7:30PM (Continued from 08/02/2023)  

  Applicant:  Southworth Mashpee Properties LLC   

  Location:   275 Quinaquisset Avenue (Map 69 Parcel 32)  

 Request:   Applicant proposes to modify the Willowbend Country Club Special Permit 

to construct a 14- unit single family cottage community immediately 

contiguous to the Willowbend Golf Course. With these changes the total 

unit count for the Willowbend project would be increased to 287 if the 

Board authorizes the annexation of 275 Quinaquisset into the Willowbend 

Special Permit as allowed. 287 dwelling units is the maximum number of 

dwelling units authorized under the Special Permit. All units will be 

connected to and served by the existing privately owned wastewater 

treatment plant which serves the entire Willowbend project.  

 

Attorney Jack McElhinney is present this evening for Southworth Mashpee. Virtually present is 

Matt Eddy the engineer and Don Pinto, their zoning counsel. Before jumping into the matters at 

Cranberry Point he wants to briefly update the public of how we got here and suggest a path 

forward. On December 6th he withdrew the separate modification request to modify the 

bedroom count without prejudice. At that time there was a motion to close the public hearing. 

Some members made it clear that they did not want to entertain any deliberation among 

members or conduct any votes before the hearing was closed. With the hearing closed, the 

Board would then deliberate and inhibit and cap any existing vacant lot within Willowbend or 

the remaining 14 units, mostly allocated at Cranberry Point. That would put Willowbend in an 

unfortunate position, as well as the town. They would have to bring a judicial appeal of that 

decision to protect the interest of the third parties to whom lots were sold. That is not in 

anyone’s interest, since that condition should be considered enforceable at this time, given 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

10 
 

deed policy adopted in 1991. Going into tonight, the goal remains to have a discussion about 

the Boards view on Cranberry Point. The bedroom count has become a mountain from a 

molehill and has made no progress in these 6 months of discussion for the real substance of 

the application. He does not see why they can’t discuss and modify bedroom count as part of 

the Cranberry Point application. It is functionally and legally no different than the condition in 

the original Special Permit that called for a 100ft. buffer, which we are considering a 

modification for. If we can modify one, we can modify the other. The reason the bedroom count 

was brought as a separate item was that it came up midway through a series of hearings on 

Cranberry Point, and thought it prudent to continue on parallel tracks. There are detriments 

here. We are looking for feedback from the Board, there have been a number of changes 

made to this application since it started. Originally the proposal called for 14 units now it’s 

down to 12, the road was widened for fire access, there will be reduced wetland impacts, they 

engaged in peer review of wetland impacts, widened the buffer to 70 ft., and also indicated 

they are prepared to enhance the mitigation efforts. That would involve 2.5 acres or address 

other issues such as affordable housing through an in kind or monetary donation. They are 

hoping to get some feedback.   

 

Pat Costello, Town Counsel is here to answer any questions the Board has in this matter 

procedurally speaking. Mr. Costello does not feel it is appropriate at this time to enter into an 

executive session. There has been a threat of litigation within certain correspondence which 

would prompt an executive session, but since the Board is currently engaged in a Special 

Permit modification it’s discussable. The Board’s deliberations and discussions that he would 

answer should be entertained in open session. Legal threat has to be imminent to enter 

executive session. It has been alluded to potentially, but was done so in a manner that 

indicated the applicant’s intent in avoiding that. He would prefer any and all questions relative 

to the application here in open session.  

 

Ms. Faulkner noted people have sent questions to Mr. Costello, and asked if he wouldn’t mind 

answering them. During public hearing the Board is open to advisory council in an advisory 

capacity.  

 

Ms. Waygan is calling for a point of process, she has sent Town Counsel 7 questions and she 

would like to hear from Town Counsel the answers, not the applicant. If Town Counsel is 

uncomfortable to answer, just say so.  

 

Mr. Costello dove right into Ms. Waygan’s questions.  

She asked if the land parcel at 275 Quinaquisset was a buildable lot. He has not conducted a 

detailed analysis, but in reviewing several submissions and being familiar with the bylaw, it 

would be buildable under current zoning as three single family homes. 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

11 
 

Next, she asked what year of the zoning bylaw is this parcel buildable. He answered that 

would be determined on 2023/24 bylaw.  

 

Next, if the Special Permit granting authority modifies under jurisdiction, how does the SPGA 

confirm existing SP conditions, if any, from original or previous modifications that have been 

met. He replied that compliance with special conditions is done through the town’s Building 

Commissioner, the acting zoning enforcement who is authorized to enforce provisions of the 

bylaw. An applicant at application time will note if the property is compliant with existing 

Special Permit requirements or conditions. The simple answer: legally the Building 

Commissioner or Zoning Enforcement Officer would determine compliance with Special Permit 

conditions.  

 

Next, if conditions of Special Permit or modifications have not been met, and the project is 

under construction without meeting the conditions, what recourse does the town have to 

enforce meeting these conditions? He responded the enforcement officer is authorized to 

enforce the zoning bylaw and regulate permits. Enforcement could undertake action if a 

violation was determined. Enforcement action would commence with a cease and desist, they 

could forbid any activity, and take court action.  

 

Next, what protections does the town or SPGA have to deny a request for a Special Permit 

modification when and if there are unmet SP conditions/modifications? Can SPGA place new 

conditions faulting project until met, or can it deny. He stated the zoning bylaw relative to SP 

provides this particular situation with a modification to a permit. A Special Permit may be 

issued only following specific general law and approved only if the determined proposed use is 

consistent with applicable state and town regulations, statutes, bylaws, and plans. He would 

construe existing permits that govern or permit particular uses of a parcel to be a local 

regulation or permit. He believes compliance should be considered by the Planning Board in its 

consideration of the Special Permit. If there was noncompliance with conditions, that could be 

considered in deliberations or modifications to Special Permit. You could order new or 

additional conditions relative to the alleged noncompliance. You could take a number of 

actions. He advised to look to provisions of the zoning bylaw, 174-24C that identifies criteria 

applicable to Special Permits. In his view compliance would be with the existing conditions in a 

current Special Permit.  

 

Next question, is the SPGA allowed to have Town Counsel present so that SPGA can discuss 

with counsel. Mr. Costello explained that executive sessions can only be convened set forth by 

Ch30A and the 10 allowable items described. Discussion with counsel in a confidential setting 

relative to ongoing deliberations or impending decisions would not be appropriate. It would be 

appropriate when there is potential for litigation and it is threatened or imminent.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

12 
 

Last question, are there any sections in the conditions of the Special Permits for Willowbend 

granted in 1985 zoning which are not enforceable by the town or are currently not met. He 

stated that is a broad question. He knows there’s multiple modifications (22) that serve to alter 

terms and conditions over time. To his knowledge, after that SP has been modified, any permit 

condition that has not been released or modified by the Board would still be binding.  

 

Ms. Faulkner posed some questions as well that Counsel will go over at this time. First 

question, can the Planning Board legally authorize the annexation of 275 Quinaquisset into the 

Willowbend SP? He stated the bylaw does provide for expansion of land area within a SP so 

he does think that is permissible as with any SP modification, the Board would have the right to 

grant, deny, or allow with conditions.  

 

Next question, did Willowbend violate the 1991 SP decision by exceeding the bedroom count 

of 853? He cannot answer that because he is unaware of any contractual information that 

specific Board may have made relative to bedroom number. He has heard based on 

discussions that there have been more bedrooms developed within the permit area in excess 

of 853 set forth as a limit in the 1991 modification. Hypothetically, if there are more than 853 

bedrooms within the development SP area, it could be deemed a violation of condition 29 

adopted in the 1991 amendment.  

 

Next, what are the exact steps one must take to modify a special permit and decision? He 

answered a modification requires a Public Hearing and approval by four or five Planning Board 

members and an application of criteria set forth in the zoning bylaw. The Board’s duty or 

obligation with respect to modification is similar to that of granting the initial SP. Criteria similar 

to Subsection 9 will govern the Board’s decision.  

 

Next, what are the arguments to modify amending a SP decision? Mr. Costello understands 

what has been asserted during the course of the hearing and correspondence. The applicant is 

asserting it has satisfied requirements and he has further seen allegations or assertions that 

they have adopted a position by virtue of lack of enforcement, over a lengthy period of time, 

and the town has stopped its equity in enforcement. He doesn’t understand it to be the 

principal argument in favor of the modification being a game over.   

 

Next question, what are arguments for denying the amendment for the Special Permit 

modification? It was answered that lack of compliance with the terms of the existing SP as 

previously alluded to could be a basis for denial. Also a lack of compliance with current zoning, 

if they are seeking to expand land, could be a basis for denial. Certainly any of the failures with 

criteria set forth in Section 174 would constitute a denial.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

13 
 

Next, on page 3 of the 1991 SP decision, it states the Board finds the development modified to 

be constructed with compliance of original Special Permit and proposed modifications will 

reduce overall density from original permit. By executing the 1991 SP decision, was it the 

intent to limit density by limiting the number of units? He cannot speak to the intent of the 1991 

Planning Board as he has been with the town for a long time, it has not been that long. Density 

was considered of the Planning Board when it issued that modification in support. He would 

refer the Board to language on page 2 of modification of SP which indicated consistent with 

OSID provisions of current bylaw the Board interprets the bedroom limit as a density limit, 

intended to establish a max number of bedrooms in the development when applied in 

conjunction with maximum units. Density is a valid consideration when discussing the SP. It 

does appear the Planning Board at that time considered density as a relevant factor in this 

decision.  

 

Lastly, is the proponent’s argument valid that the Planning Board limited bedrooms to 953 and 

units to 287 based on their sewage capacity of treatment plant? Mr. Costello stated the 

sewage capacity was absolutely a consideration when talking about multi units, as he alluded 

to earlier, density regulation also seemed to be a consideration. It was then and it remains to 

be.   

 

Ms. Faulkner asked Mr. McElhinney, if the Board were to agree to modify, has he considered 

some conditions? She noted he previously mentioned mitigating with affordable or some 

donations. In addition, if they were to deny the modification, these people could not build on 

those lots.  

 

Mr. McElhinney stated yes, as he understands it, the Board’s position would deem those lots 

unbuildable.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented whether this application is denied or approved, it’s the Zoning 

Enforcement Officer who would deal with that question. Mr. Lehrer agreed with that statement. 

He continued to say if they are buildable is not up to the Planning Board, the Building 

Commissioner makes that determination.  

 

Mr. Costello said the Building Commissioner would review all Special Permits and he would 

make an independent judgement to see if there was a violation. The process, once in his 

capacity, issues that finding, and he may then deny building permits. The property owner could 

then appeal with the ZBA and ZBA would render its independent determination.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated when the bedroom max was established, and arose a potential conflict, it 

was not the Board. Mr. Lehrer gave the advice to the applicant to pursue a separate 

modification of that Special Permit because the application itself did not contemplate a request 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

14 
 

to the Board to modify that provision. Given the magnitude he felt it prudent to issue notice to 

people of interest under a separate proceeding. Mr. McElhinney mentioned the reduction of the 

buffer, as he reviewed plans for Cranberry Point, abutters notified, as it indicated a buffer from 

Quinaquisset. That was less than 100 ft. as contemplated in the 1987 decision. That was 

specific to development plans proposed. The applicant has withdrawn modifying the 853 

bedroom count. Is it reasonable to authorize an amendment of this Special Permit absent a 

Public Hearing that specifically notices people of interest of that consideration?  

 

Ms. Costello stated the decision should be subsequent to a Public Hearing. Would that issue of 

the buffer be within the scope of issues raised in the initial application? If reasonably within the 

scope of what was applied for, and it did arise during the course of discussions, he thinks it is 

okay for that determination to be made. If that issue was not noted in the application, thus 

notices as something that would be discussed, a new application with subsequent notice and 

hearing should be conveyed.  

 

Mr. Balzarini stated major modifications have to be Public Hearings vs. minor modifications, 

and it is up to the Planning Board to decide. If the Board had decided this was a minor 

modification for bedroom count, there would be no Public Hearing.  

 

Mr. Costello said minor changes to site plans of a committed project with listed details of what 

that includes, may be approved by SPGA, and provided it does not violate the zoning bylaw.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated Ms. Faulkner’s first question was about the annexation of new land into the 

SP, but there are certain requirements that have to apply.  

 

Mr. Costello read Subsection 9G:  A modification under B or C above may expand the land 

area covered by said SP, provided that all uses, dimensions, and other aspects of proposed 

development within the expanded area are in performance of provisions of zoning bylaw 

applicable to the land at the time of approval of said modification, and provided the original 

SPGA has the ability to approve said proposed uses under provisions of zoning bylaw 

applicable to expanded land area at time of approval of said modification, except cluster 

subdivision or a multifamily development previously approved by the Board. The Board may 

approve a modification expanding land area under provisions of zoning applicable to original 

special permit approval, provided there are no increase in units allowed by SP nor a decrease 

in area of protected open space.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated the last sentence is what would authorize Willowbend or any other 

multifamily at the time of original SP. Ms. Faulkner asked which year that would be and it was 

answered 1985 zoning bylaw.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

15 
 

Ms. Waygan asked if they were to close the Public Hearing and go into deliberation, who 

would help them write the decision. Mr. Costello stated boards in their practices with 

assistance from Town Counsel or Mr. Lehrer in his capacity as Town Planner. It would clearly 

establish on the record the findings and its bases for its decision and rational, that is what will 

be incorporated into the written decision. He would be happy to assist if needed. Ms. Waygan 

clarified findings can be made after the closing as well as any conditions subsequent to 

findings.  

 

Ms. Faulkner asked if now would be a good time to discuss conditions with the applicant. Mr. 

Costello assured that now would be an appropriate time to engage in that conversation.  

 

Mr. McElhinney noted they have over 2.5 acres on Quaker Run and mitigation to the original 

river qualities for wetland impacts associated with the work at Cranberry Point. There is a 

willingness to consider expanding and increasing that acreage from 2.5 acres. They are 

looking for feedback from this Board. They have also indicated a willingness to commit to 

affordable housing, such as a monetary contribution. There is open acreage adjacent to the 

Santuit Inn. This is all part of a separate discussion that has been prevented from being 

discussed due to this hurdle. The Board has the ability to get us beyond this bedroom issue, 

what would it take to do that?  

 

Mr. Balzarini stated there is nothing we can do now about the bedrooms, we aren’t going to rip 

them out. Last meeting he was willing to give something to get something. He would like to see 

the Quaker Run cleaned up, whatever is on the property of Willowbend. Where the hotel is, the 

top could be made into an addition for Mashpee residents. We could get a couple affordable 

housing units. There could be a monetary payment for each bedroom they are over the 853. 

He has been on the board since 1993, 22 modifications and not once did he ever get denied.  

 

Mr. McElhinney says he has a good relationship with this Board and he hopes to continue that 

and come up with a project that is a win for everyone and find some common ground.  

 

Mr. Richardson commented he has been satisfied with their response to everything that has 

been asked from the Board, he has mentioned this before. Bedrooms are there, he thinks the 

offer for open space is important to the town and if they are willing to expand acreage, he 

thinks it would be great.  

 

Ms. Waygan argued the concept that we have been taking our time here, when in fact we have 

been receiving request after request to continue the Public Hearings, and we have been 

honoring those requests. She doesn’t accept that the Planning Board has not acted in a timely 

manner in any way. She appreciates Mr. Richardson’s sentiment that the applicant has 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

16 
 

responded to questions, all except one. How many bedrooms are there now, how many are 

being built, and how many are they planning to build?  

 

Mr. McElhinney has answered this question. He has stated previously precisely computing 

how many exist, is not regulated. What someone does with the interior of their home once they 

build the lot is not up to them. We look at capacity to treat sewer and we get it approved by 

DEP. We do not regulate specific homes in those terms, if someone wishes to do an interior 

renovation and hire a contractor is their prerogative. He and Mr. Lehrer have spent a number 

of hours trying to reconcile numbers, and the figures are within 5% of one another.   

 

Ms. Waygan asked if they are a condominium association. He answered some of them are, not 

all. She followed up with when they report to DEP you would have an application to them with 

the number of units for a project. In which Mr. McElhinney answered they have provided all of 

that to the Board in July. She would like to know what number of bedrooms is on that 

document. He stated it was provided and the Board has that number and he can provide it to 

the Board again, he does not have it in front of him.  

 

Ms. Waygan had a question regarding the LEC letter.  

 

Ms. Faulkner inquired about the Santuit Inn housing Mashpee residents. Mr. McElhinney 

responded that they have more of a need for workforce housing, it’s a site that screams to be 

utilized and is physically contiguous with their internal roads and cart paths. The acreage on 

Santuit is 3 acres all on septic. They hope to connect to the plant and it would be possible. He 

is currently trying to see what would get them over this hump. He would be happy to start 

conversations regarding proffers. The bedroom issue is a nothing burger to him. He 

understands others don’t agree but in regards to impact all that wastewater is treated and 

comes out as drinking water. Regardless of whether there are 855 or 882, it doesn’t make 

much difference to the impact to the groundwater. It does not change impact to neighbors and 

this site is very insulated and surrounded by 400 acres of Willowbend property. In the Baord’s 

mind this is a density issue but environmentally the difference is null.  

 

Ms. Waygan has a letter from LEC, under the Section BVW, which stands for Bordering 

Vegetative Wetlands, it states it is their understanding and experience that the BVD filling must 

be mitigated with wetland replication under WPA (Wetland Protection Act) and that there is no 

regulatory pathway for the commission to accept other forms of mitigation. Do you have any 

response to that?  

 

Matthew Eddy responded he is not in total agreement with that statement but will be 

determined once it goes through Conservation. It does allow restoration or replication. If they 

say they have to do it by replication, they simply take a piece of land and expand the wetlands 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

17 
 

footprint. They have had schematic dialogue along those lines with Conservation. Restoration 

allows for a 1:1 ratio, the bog wetland impact is 6,000 sq. feet. So if they had to restore, they 

create new wetland in addition to the bog, replicate 6,600 s.f. along the main system adjacent 

to interior wetlands, carve out 6,600 s.f.. It’s achievable and it’s a matter of will we have to do 

this alongside LEC and Conservation, but very doable.  

 

Ms. Faulkner asked how it’s replicated. Mr. Eddy explained you fill in 6,000 s.f. of wetland, as 

the WPA requires a 1:1 mitigation. They use a parcel adjacent to the wetland, go in and 

excavate and remove earth, lower that into the wetland elevation and incorporate ground 

water, shape and plant with vegetation, replace in a different area, now expanded a new 

6,000s.f. and created more wetlands for no net loss. They are commenting that the wetlands is 

restoration.  

 

Ms. Waygan is having a problem with the term no regulatory pathway, how can they comply 

with town regulations when there are no regulatory pathways? Under today’s zoning we would 

get 3 homes. These homes and how they are situated are physically in wetlands. The impact 

in the jurisdiction of conservation is excessive. It’s impacting the wetlands, there’s no 

regulatory pathway for the town consultant or Conservation to approve. That can be reduced 

by the number of units, not bedrooms, proposed on this site, which far exceeds anything in 

zoning. Previous zoning is allowed because of our old bylaw with Special Permits. They are 

not in compliance with the Special Permit, it makes this whole thing undoable. When you’re 

talking about negotiating, that’s more of a development agreement not this permit mechanism. 

It will fail if we don’t have a regulatory pathway and the project doesn’t comply with the Special 

Permit.   

 

Mr. Eddy commented he can easily follow up with Drew McManus in Conservation as well as 

LEC to obtain a clearer clarification on their language. Any project requires process, revisions, 

and modifications. He noted when they say regulatory pathway, their reference is to the WPA, 

for wetlands proposed we need replication not restoration that will be a modification to the 

plan. He will get clarification and confirm this is in line with what he is saying, LEC even noted 

the replication solution.   

 

Ms. Waygan inquired if the replication parcel has to happen on that site. He stated no, but 

regardless the 6,000 s.f. would be on the east side that Quaker Run runs through, or partially 

around the existing wetland system on the interior of the site, labeled Wetland A. That 

replication would occur on site but it wouldn’t be a requirement.  

 

Mr. McElhinney followed up that this is a preliminary report and he would like to let that 

process play out to completion. Early on this Board stated they did not feel qualified to make 

findings of environmental impact until Conservation completes it’s own review. He suggests 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

18 
 

they simply let them finish and once complete he can share it with the Board. With that will be 

some give and take which will then change the plans here.  

 

Ms. Waygan mentioned the summary of wetland impacts, the second sentence is where she 

got the impression they had to provide the work on the site. Matt Eddy stated that is not the 

case. It’s a state act not a town act, if we have to do a replication, it may be less than that, 

what’s called isolated vegetative wetland, which is IVW, and bordering which is BVW. IVW 

doesn’t require mitigation. Conservation and LEC is interpretative of what is isolated or 

bordered. We are working on this plan and if it stays IVW it will be 2-3000 s.f. or replication, but  

BVW will increase to 6000 s.f. The restoration would occur on site.  

 

Ms. Faulkner noted we will wait until we get the final report from Conservation.  

 

Mr. McElhinney noted until this Board tells them to stop they intend to see the process through. 

LEC has said this project is a significant environmental benefit that has major value. Their 

undertaking is to demonstrate that this mitigation is significant and a significant element to the 

project that should be considered. It will take some additional time. He will defer to Mr. Eddy 

for a timeline.  

 

Mr. Eddy stated it will be a process with Conservation and LEC internally, once they are on the 

same page he will follow-up with the state. The hearing with Conservation was continued to 

Feb 15th. A month after that he will possibly have a new draft, his hope is mid-March.   

 

Ms. Waygan is not hearing enough tonight and Ms. Faulkner agreed. Ms. Waygan is taking 

what Town Counsel said about a determination by Building Commissioner whether this project 

is in compliance. It will take resources for the enforcement officer and it may require they 

acquire an attorney. It is not reasonable to go forward if there is suspect that the project is not 

in compliance with Special Permit.  

 

Mr. Costello stated the building enforcement officer has the authority for zoning 

determinations. It’s not uncommon for applicants to meet with other town staff and the Board 

can consider what interpretation of evidence it wants, but an official determination and input 

from the Building Commissioner is most official.  

 

Ms. Faulkner asked Mr. Costello about the unbuilt properties, if he says no to issue a building 

permit what is the next step for those prospective owners?   

 

Mr. Costello stated the applicant can appeal to ZBA. He stated it’s not uncommon for the 

Commissioner to offer testimony at a Board meeting and offer his opinion, in an expert 

capacity, for building codes and bylaw. She also asked if the Board could take the testament of 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

19 
 

the Town Planner as well, which he agreed. Municipal planners, engineers, developers, and 

building commissioners are considered experts.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated it may be a simpler process to have the Building Commissioner come and 

provide a testimony before the Board.  

 

Ms. Faulkner would like a MEMO from Drew McManus and Ms. Waygan would like to invite 

the Building Commissioner before the Board. Mr. McManus can have the option to write or 

appear.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated for the purpose of determining if the project is in compliance, as well as 

Ms. Faulkner’s concern about the unbuilt lots.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted it’s been well established the bedrooms are in excess of 853. There is 

potential subsequent to a determination that is this will not be advantageous to the property 

owners just mentioned. Do they want to officially receive that? They have the authority to 

mitigate impacts created by alleged noncompliance by way of new conditions in a subsequent 

modification. Impacts are mitigated and we don’t aggrieve those property owners. It is his 

understanding the Board is not interested in removing developing rights. He would invite the 

Building Commissioner for a conversation, but a formal notation may impact those existing 

property owners.  

 

Mr. Lehrer continued regardless of bedrooms, if the Commissioner makes a determination the 

project is out of compliance, he would be compelled to no longer issue permits to those 

property owners in the Special Permit area, until the Board modifies or corrects. Through 

deliberations of Cranberry Point, we would need to make a finding relative to the Special 

Permit conditions. If the Board decides on a vote to modify, the finding made relative to 

noncompliance should be a condition to correct or mitigate impacts.  

 

Mr. McElhinney stated that determination renders those permits $0 value, abatement, and tax 

revenue of $50,000 or more to the town. We are talking about starting a fight we don’t need to 

have that will take multiple years and hundreds of thousands of dollars. We have 

acknowledged the bedrooms are over, this Board and its predecessors have not enforced this 

for 31 years.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted as the original states, bedroom count was related to density. The applicant 

has proposed mitigation measures such as increasing bog restoration or donating affordable 

housing. As conditions to mitigate, there is a recognition that the bedrooms are in excess and 

to resolve impacts of that problem we are going to expect X, Y, or Z in return. It was also 

stated we cannot regulate interior space of single family dwellings.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

20 
 

He continued that Willowbend is only allowed 13 more units. Currently there are 274 and they 

are entitled 287. Within that number bedrooms can only grow by a finite number. It isn’t 

infinitely expandable. Permits that have yet to be pulled at Willow Circle, those that have not 

yet completed construction, and any units in cranberry point, that number could be 

contemplated. You could establish a new maximum. If evaluating Cranberry Point or future 

projects for the 13 units, you could prescribe a new maximum.  

 

Mr. Lehrer asked about the limitation under the zoning act for towns to regulate interior space 

of single family dwellings, should the Board impose a condition that limits number of bedrooms 

in any future dwellings to 4 per unit, or is that in conflict with prohibition on regulation of interior 

space?  

 

Mr. Costello explained the general criteria for a Special Permit can only be used in harmony 

with the general purposes of the bylaw. You can establish conditions or specific provisions 

which Mashpee has done. The bylaw can provide special permits authorizing increases in 

density or a particular use in the proposed development. When the Planning Board issued the 

SP in 1987 and modified it in 1991, it focused on a condition in the bylaw related to density.  

This is a modification of a Special Permit issued over 30 years. The Board does have 

discretion for certain improvements that would mitigate excessive density or increased 

bedrooms. There is room for discussion and negotiation.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked if the whole cap on bedrooms could be removed, or modified. Mr. Costello 

answered it could modify its existing terms, that was one of the original modifications. If the 

Board was to consider an amendment to number of bedrooms, look for modifications to the 

permit that would improve the site to mitigate any density impact resulting from bedroom count. 

That’s what being talked about here, wetland and affordable housing. Those are amenities that 

can be offered in exchange for density consideration in the SP.  

 

Mr. McElhinney asked about specific mitigation enhancements, he can’t promise they will do 

everything but he would ask for another couple weeks to work on this and see what his team is 

willing to negotiate. It will take him a little bit to have a good handle on costs and what the 

Board has proposed.   

 

Ms. Faulkner would like mitigation of the bog and restoration enhancements to Quaker Run 

that sits on the property. Mr. McElhinney interjected that is close to 13 acres, he plans on 

focusing on areas that are much more critical, contiguous to the Quaker Run channel. She 

exclaimed to her that is most important. She also noted the affordable need is 37 units for 10 

years, these are things to consider, or cash. Ms. Waygan added the possibility of donating to a 

partner like HAC, we could see if they  had their eye on anything in Mashpee.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

21 
 

Mr. Richardson commented expanding acreage of mitigation relative to the bog is fine, or open 

space as people feel strongly about that item. He doesn’t find the bedroom count to be a large 

issue.   

 

Mr. Balzarini would like to see what Mr. McElhinney comes back to offer. He also doesn’t 

believe the bedroom count to be a big deal.  

 

Mr. Oakley noted he would look forward to a total restoration or very near total restoration of 

Quaker Run. He is thinking bigger picture, the restoration of one system that has all-

encompassing effects on the entire system..  

 

Mr. Hansen stated for mitigation he is opposed, he sees the bedroom count as a violation. No 

form of mitigation could resolve that. There is a legal instrument for number of bedrooms that 

was previously approved and it looks like it has been violated. They need to resolve not 

through mitigation, but why would we increase density when it has been exceeded by 15% 

over the permitted amount. He is also opposed to Cranberry Point as it aggravates the non-

lawful situation. He equates this to a stop sign, a legal enforcement. He has been guilty of not 

stopping and not getting in trouble. He now gets in trouble and violates, now he has to pay a 

fine. He broke the law, he is guilty. He isn’t going to go back and violate again and again, that’s 

his logic here.  

 

Ms. Faulkner commented the Board also has to consider how long for Willowbend to appeal. It 

will go on for a while, she knows there’s defenses. If they have good mitigation, she 

understands exactly what he is saying, we have to look at a balance. Do we want to fight this 

to the death and spend X amount of town money and lose, or possibly prevail.  

 

Ms. Waygan has concerns about the 100 foot buffer and the structures in the wetlands. She is 

not going to reject this but she is hoping her Board members are being listened to.  

 

Mr. Oakley commented we should also be aware of the precedent we set with this 

determination. If this project is out of compliance, how do we move forward with that? How can 

we move past an out of compliance party, who after the fact wants to make an adjustment to 

the Special Permit, what precedent are we setting for ourselves and the town?  

 

Ms. Faulkner asked how the bedroom cape was even legal in the first place.  

 

Mr. McElhinney does not know, he thinks this dates back to 1985 during the environmental 

report with MEPA and they identify elements of project as well as impacts. They identify size, 

number of units, construction, and capacity of the wastewater treatment facility.  During that 

time of inspection, the number 853 bedrooms was related to treatment capacity. That then was 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

22 
 

carried through, saying no matter how many units, we will not exceed capacity of that plant. 

Over time, the capacity of the plant grew and is now responsible for those bedrooms, all of 

Cotuit Bay and Shoestring Bay, 10 homes on Pleasant Park, all not in the permit area. The 

plant still runs at 60-70% capacity in peak summer months. There is no purpose or basis for 

enforcement because it no longer serves as a realistic figure.  

 

Mr. Lehrer answered to Ms. Faulkner’s point of the legal basis, it is a condition in the permit 

that was accepted by the applicant in 1991 and was then not appealed in 1991, whether it had 

a legal basis then or not is irrelevant.  

 

Mr. Oakley asked when the bedroom count was set, was there any mechanism to keep 

accountability on that limit? For example, say we accept modification and set a new bedroom 

limit, what’s in place to prevent them from going over the bedroom limit again 30 years from 

now?  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated we are in the pickle now. It is incumbent on the zoning enforcement office to 

track. Every decision has referenced units, no decisions have contemplated bedrooms. Absent 

to decision tracking, it should have been incumbent for the building department to track that 

figure as permits came in. if modified, same expectation would apply. Zoning should be 

monitoring conditions issued by SPGA.   

 

Ms. Waygan noted we are near the end of the permit. If you read 1985 zoning, it talks about 

bedroom limits per unit. It’s reasonable for SPGA to ask if permits are compliant. There would 

be no indication to the Planning Board that there in fact was an overage in bedrooms. It was 

not their responsibility for them to ask every step of the way. Some permits require reporting 

every 6-12 months. That is also true if the property were to sell, the new owner will need to 

come before the Board and state that they have read the SP conditions. We have learned to 

add safe guards, especially for a multiyear project. The Building Commissioner is enforcement 

but we as a Board can put things in for reporting purposes. If this ever goes forward, there will 

absolutely be reporting requirements to certify our conditions have been met.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to continue this Public Hearing to February 21, 2023 at 

7:10PM. Seconded by Mr. Richardson. All in favor.  

 

*Ask Building Commissioner and Conservation Agent to attend or a write a MEMO in response 

to Conservation efforts, mitigations, and compliance/violations with SP* 

 

NEW BUSINESS  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

23 
 

Request to release the Performance Guarantee securing construction completion for 

the project referred to as Sherwin Williams  

Mr. Lehrer was expecting the Consulting Engineer to report on this matter, but he can attest 

and affirm via an email from said engineer that this project is satisfactory and has 

recommended the reduction of the performance guarantee that totals $21,300 for Sherwin 

Williams to zero. Construction has been completed. 

 

Ms. Faulkner asked about the certificate of occupancy. Mr. Lehrer explained the date of the 

accepted performance bond is the date this property is eligible for occupancy. Cash is 

accepted in exchange for the guarantee to complete and the occupancy certificate is given.   

 

Release of Performance Guarantee was signed by Board members.  

 

MOTION: 

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to release the $21,300 performance guarantee to Sherwin 

Williams. Seconded by Mr. Balzarini. All in favor.  

 

Consideration of a request made by Mr. William Russell, CEO, Cape Pickle, LLC to allow 

indoor recreational facilities in the I-1 Zoning District. Currently indoor recreational 

facilities are only allowed in commercial districts by special permit.  

Mr. Lehrer received a phone call about a month ago inquiring about the potential to establish 

an indoor recreation facility for pickle ball and other onsite amenities in the I1 zoning district, 

which currently restricts recreation facilities. It is allowed in C1, C2, and C3. He is proposing a 

large facility on Evergreen Circle. He was notified to proceed with the development plan but a 

zoning change would need to transpire in order to allow this in that specific district. Building in 

excess of 10,000s.f. is also subject to a referral to the Cape Cod Commission, and the 

applicant has been in contact with regulatory staff relative to their process. Mr. Lehrer was 

asked to add this as an agenda item subsequent to those conversations. His interest in 

developing remains steadfast and he has a proposal packet for his business. Mr. Lehrer 

reminded the Board that Warrant Articles are due soon, with that being said, he wanted to 

allow time to make the Board aware of his request relative to rezoning, and the allowance of 

recreation facilities in the I1.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted the town can modify zoning bylaws by way of Town Meeting. Anyone seeking 

to establish an indoor recreation facility would be allowed, with an application to this Board. If it 

contemplates criteria that mandates a referral, just like a cell tower, at the opening of a Public 

Hearing, we would then immediately refer to the Cape Cod Commission.  

 

William Russell is present this evening to explain his involvement in perusing this endeavor a 

year ago. He acknowledged a significant number of towns that are banning or seeking 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

24 
 

restrictions on outdoor play due to noise, with that being said there is also a rapidly growing 

popularity in this sport. The fastest growing pickle ball enthusiasts age from 18-30 year olds. 

He specifically looked for this location and found this property that was previously part of a 

DRI. He has an offer to purchase which he is proceeding with said purchase of this property, in 

the anticipation of successfully navigating town processes and Commission processes. He is 

hoping this will be endorsed to be on the warrant for allowing said use on premises. The facility 

would have 10 indoor courts, 8 indoor golf simulator stations, a pro shop, a small restaurant 

and bar, and significant league play to cover high school age, to town play, and member 

activities. Membership will be part of the profit stream. He and his wife presently own a café 

and catering called Pineapple Caper. He is familiar with running food establishments, 

management, and possessing a full liquor license. Things he doesn’t know about are details 

around pickle ball, but that’s where his investors have knowledge. He is confident in his model 

and what it represents for the town, it is an ideal location, aside from zoning requirements, and 

he is hopeful for a positive outcome.  

 

Mr. Balzarini said he is very much in favor of this. Mr. Richardson agreed. Mr. Balzarini 

continued it is gaining a large following and it continues to remain popular.  

 

Ms. Waygan likes the idea, and asked what else is in that development. Mr. Lehrer noted there 

is a dog daycare, Cape Cod coffee, a liquor store, contractor bays, landscaping companies, 

and Gutter Monkeys, etc. Is this the last lot available, one currently permitting under 

construction? She wanted to ensure no boatyard or recycling or scraping paint. He explained 

this is in the groundwater protection district and cannot ever be approved. She recalled the 

front two lots fell onto special bylaw. Light industrial overlay, which contemplates such uses 

being proposed like mini golf and food service. That overlay is in entirety of I1 and C3. If it was 

submitted the article will ask town meeting to insert SP under I1 which would allow for 

recreation.  

 

Ms. Faulkner is for it, she thought of a couple items such as a traffic study.  

 

Mr. Lehrer reminded her that first it will go to Town Meeting for adoption. Then by way of the 

mandatory referral to the Commission, there will be a traffic study during the DRI process. He 

is not in a position to suggest traffic counts, it would come back under a special permit. At this 

time we focus on the article change.  

 

Ms. Waygan would also like to discuss noise abatement at that time. She asked if the Town 

Planner has composed a draft bylaw for this yet. Mr. Lehrer stated he will write one for next 

meeting for submission to the Select Board.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

25 
 

Everyone is in favor of giving the Town Planner direction to write a draft submission for the 

Select Board prior to approval.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

Review and Execute the Special Permit Modification #2 Decision for the Cluster 

Subdivision referred to as Ockway Highlands  

Mr. Lehrer needed to affirm that the condition to the as built was consistent with the vote, no 

other items in the permit decision have been modified. Conditions are inclusive of everything 

desired. He does not have the draft that requires signature. If the Board is comfortable, the 

Board can authorize one member to sign.  

 

Mr. Balzarini is the designated signer, he will go to the Planning Department on 1/18/23 to 

sign.  

 

MOTION:  

Ms. Waygan made a motion to approve the Special Permit Modification #2 decision. 

Seconded by Mr. Balzarini. All in favor.  

 

Continue Review and Discussion of updated draft Raze and Replace Bylaw  

Mr. Lehrer has made no amendments to the bylaw. He was asked to look at functionality, he 

does not have the update. There was a newspaper article relative to this, and he has had 

multiple residents from Popponesset call his office, some of which who are present this 

evening. He explained how the draft is designed to function. Many are interested in expressing 

opinions on this topic as it is brought forth through this deliberation.  

 

Daniel and Ellie Lynch- They wrote to inquire about the proposed changes to the 

development regulations that arbitrarily apply to Popponesset. They have been property 

owners in Poppy for almost 20 years. Mashpee has seen high growth and this is intelligent and 

will benefit all residents in the community. We should all be in favor of appropriate restrictions 

of any development. It has been shared that any future development would be restricted and 

limited to size, specific to Popponesset. This would diminish and affect property values. He 

would ask the Planning Department to share goals when determining how this is appropriate. 

As a tax payer, they ask and hope for a consideration with a better solution and tasteful 

development.  

 

Marianne Coffey- It has come to her attention the Planning Board would impose regulations to 

restrict renovations to expand in Popponesset. They are a family of four that has lived in Poppy 

since 1995. Their original square footage was 624 s.f. It is their dream and they have been 

saving to retire. Their plans include renovating in order to accommodate substantial first floor 

living as they age. Restrictions being proposed would prohibit this renovation. They have 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

26 
 

always planned to stay within those setbacks. She fully supports restrictions to prevent 

McMansion style redevelopment. She is asking the Board to delay and allow more time for 

Poppy citizens to be able to discuss goals and concerns that everyone supports.  

 

Bob Morrissey- He is president of the PBA. They just learned about this so most of his 

residents have called and asked how it will affect them and the development, and what to do if 

they wanted to expand to retire or become full time. In his past life he was a zoning attorney. 

This would have a dramatic effect on how residents live and expand. As a board we pass 

information to members and allow the opportunity to talk with the community. He would invite 

the Town Planner to do a presentation for his community. In the winter there are 20% of the 

residents, most won’t know this is coming unless a letter is sent. They hold June and 

September meetings. He loves the idea of having examples, showing non-conformities, it’s a 

great way to explain to residents. His concerns are why just the floodplain, why Popponesset? 

It also seems to say pervious materials need to be replaced with impervious. If someone has a 

patio, do we have to rip that patio out? He has been dealing with many drainage issues, as the 

Board is aware. With the water table they don’t need any more paved driveways. His other 

problem is May Town Meeting and most of his residents won’t even be around to discuss. 

They would like to know what is driving this and have an opportunity to comment. Some do 

vote in Mashpee, some do not. He recently became a full time resident but he hasn’t changed 

his voting registration. This is going to have a severe impact. A lot of people have aged and 

need one floor living to make arrangements for growing old here. He wants to be able to 

advise his residents accordingly.  

 

Ms. Faulkner assured him this would not be going to May Town Meeting.  

 

Ms. Waygan noted the deadline for October’s is July.  

 

Mr. Balzarini agrees that too many people are not here, he already discussed this as an issue 

with the Planner.   

 

Mr. Lehrer noted presumably we need to have a well thought out and completed draft before 

the June meeting to articulate impacts, and engagement with the neighborhood would be 

prudent. He is trying to evaluate the most productive engagement. 

 

Ms. Waygan would like to start a webpage, as this started in 2018. The most current action is 

the citizen petition. She advised Mr. Morrissey to read it and that it passed majority but not 2/3. 

Several residents made Public Comment on that as well. Some of the issues brought forth 

were addressed. She also noted correspondence from Glenn McCarthy, the petitioner.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

27 
 

Mr. Lehrer stated in addition to the website he would like to hold a workshop in March with 

whatever draft and members of the PBA that are here, as well as whoever would like to 

virtually participate. This will transpire alongside members of the Board to allow for a 

constructive dialogue. He is intending to work on visual aids. The residents who are proposing 

making changes soon could be used as properties used for visuals.  

 

John Malloy- He and Mr. Morrissey have spent some time preparing for this meeting. He has 

worked closely with the town for the last 10 years. He is on the board to save Popponesset 

Bay. He led the effort to redesign, re-permit, and rebuild the spit. He provided an update to the 

Planning Board two years ago. The reason he speaks to this is because of the effort that they 

went through and his experience with the town has been incredibly positive. The spit 10 years 

ago was a sandbar that was one storm away from being under water. We have raised $5 

Million and most was community driven. A lot of people affected are a lot of the ones writing 

these checks. He and Mr. Lehrer were chatting about the future of the spit and goals for the 

town, a huge part of achieving these goals is having the Poppy Spit. The bay would get 

crushed if it wasn’t there. It is the most important infrastructure that doesn’t get talked about. 

Popponesset Bay just keeps taking care of it, he jokingly stated don’t ask questions if you don’t 

want to get in the middle. They are screaming loud, it’s been quite a process to get to this 

point. There are 8 people doing this, and these 8 people are about ready to collapse.  They are 

meeting to talk about the strategy for the next 5 years. The Harbor Management Plan is being 

developed. There needs to be more conversations about working together and even closer, to 

protect the bay, the spit, and water quality. We are very close to having permits for a longer, 

wider, deeper channel project. This will generate 40,000 cubic yards of sand all on Poppy 

beaches. He would like to depend more on grants funding these efforts. Mr. Lehrer made it 

clear there will be resources to help there. Mr. Malloy was asked to come in quarterly and 

provide updates. He would hope to engage more around how to think and plan for the long 

term commitment. He is willing to provide these updates. There is an incredible opportunity to 

partner with the Poppy community regarding the new proposed Raze and Replace bylaw. He 

has been in there since 1992, and his in-laws since 1948. They have 9-10 homes in Poppy 

between him and his wife’s family. The average age of homeowners range from 64-91, there is 

nobody young buying these properties, as they cannot afford them. The aging population is the 

vast majority that buy with the intentions to retire, himself included. You buy a camp, cottage, 

dumpy old house, and fix it up. You save and retire and now you need to rebuild. It’s very 

different from other parts of Mashpee. Poppy residents have been paying taxes with the belief 

they can renovate. Some get more involved than others, some people you don’t even know are 

there. They buy in Poppy because it’s their happy place. Some of these places you don’t even 

want to live in, some are 600-700 s.f. and the majority of houses are in flood plain. There will 

need to be an awful lot of education in order to do something significant and have the town 

support this. The town passed the property tax structure that allows the town to tax the people 

who don’t live full time in Poppy more than other people in town. Many people don’t even know 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

28 
 

that happened. There needs to be an education process. The sewer program, people have no 

idea why Poppy isn’t included. There needs to be communication with the neighborhood. 

There are 588 properties, there is a lot of people down there. He looked at the first draft of the 

bylaw, things like increasing height, how many people can argue with that one. You just have 

to make sure building height adjusts for height of foundation. Pervious vs. impervious, what 

does that mean? Does it mean the driveway has to go? People would be supportive, obviously 

wheelchairs and walkers pose an issue here, which probably needs to be looked into further. 

This bylaw needs to address the aging community. Does his neighbor have to pull out a fire pit 

or patio? This is where we need to decide what is important and what is not, and how hard you 

are asking the community to bend. Telling the community, all of Popponesset, they cannot 

expand is fundamentally a disaster. They did not speak to many neighbors ahead of time, 

otherwise there would’ve been 100 people in this room. People who owned those homes and 

sat there for decades with hopes to retire and expand, they will not stay. They also wasted all 

that time. The neighborhood will be destroyed if people cannot expand.  

 

Mike Halloran- He was lucky enough as a kid to come to Popponesset in 1952, and has been 

back every summer since 1952. He bought his mother in laws house in 2008, he and his wife 

have lived there year round since 2011. He read in the Mashpee paper casually what was 

going on, and it gave the example of a 1,200 s.f. with a 200 s.f. shed, and there was something 

voted on last year that got a 60% but not 2/3 vote. The idea that you are falling back or 

somebody is thinking about falling back and not making it for the whole town, but isolating 

Poppy, doesn’t seem reasonable. Whatever you do in Popponesset you have to do in the 

entire town. He has a large family, he is old, he had both knees replaced, and a wife with heart 

issues that cannot do stairs. There are two bedrooms on the first floor they are going to turn 

into a master suite. He intends to replace that bedroom with a bedroom over a two car garage, 

with a ramp in the garage for his wife to get in and out of the car easier. All the things he is 

planning to design he has an architect and is within the footprint of his property. He has a ¼ of 

an acre and side setbacks are 15 ft., street to house or garage is supposed to be 25ft. He isn’t 

building a mansion but this will be necessary for his wife and him to live comfortably in his 

home in Popponesset. He has been here since 7PM and is impressed with the work the folks 

are doing here. A lot of people have a long history here, love Mashpee, and want to stay.  

 

Alan Clapp- He has lived in Popponesset full time for 12 years, and his wife’s family since 

1950s. His career has been civil engineering as a land developer for a long time. He would like 

to volunteer to be a part of meetings and workshops regarding this endeavor. He has been a 

consultant, seen different boards and regulations, and has been a land owner in developing 

property. Seeing where a footprint cannot be expanded with current zoning is concerning and 

there are a lot of ways to minimize McMansions, that is what they are striving for.  

 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

29 
 

TOWN PLANNER REPORT  

Harbor Management Planning Committee Update  

No Update.  

 

Housing Production Plan Update  

Mr. Lehrer stated the AHC is happy with the plan thus far. They would like to see an executive 

summary frontloaded on the plan to communicate to readers the major points of concern and 

strategies in a few pages. The committee discussed in length the vote by each Board to strike, 

relative to discussions with agencies on watershed management strategies, assumptions 

made some of the members concerned and they voted to draft a memorandum to submit to 

Select and Planning Boards to innumerate their opinion on that particular subject.  

 

Some questions posed: How will the Flow Neutral Bylaw interact with housing? How does the 

comprehensive water management plan interact with housing? What limits does that put 

forward on housing? How is the town going to deal with that?  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted there are variance provisions in the Flow Neutral Bylaw and it can be waived 

on CH40B permit. The Chairman of the Affordable Housing Committee fears without a clear 

path forward this may impose a certain amount of risk to developers and they may not want to 

participate, thus making RFPs less advantageous. Mr. Isbitz, Chair of AHC, will write the 

memo to John Cotton, Chairman of the Select Board. The executive summary and HPP will be 

voted on by both regulatory boards, but we want to make sure we resolve this problem.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted the agreement with the consultant has been amended until June. They will 

write the executive summary and this problem will be resolved collaboratively. It will be 

submitted for Public Comment prior to adoption. Ms. Waygan understands the prospective 

memo coming from the AHC will be a request for the Select Board, Planning Board, and she 

will suggest Sewer Commission, to convene and discuss this one strategy. The Sewer 

Commission is the experts on Flow Neutral Bylaw.    

 

MassDEP Proposed Modification to Wetlands Protection Regulations and the 401 Water 

Quality Storm Flow Standards and Updated Stormwater Management Standards  

Mr. Lehrer stated their public comment period is open. They are proposing changes to 

wetlands protection, which will impact land subject to coastal storm flow, the 100 year flood 

plain. The proposed amendments, if adopted, would prevent existing single family dwellings 

from expanding their footprint. The state is contemplating this within its state regulations. He 

did ask Conservation Commission to provide a MEMO for the Board. He just wanted to 

acknowledge this effort was underway from MassDEP and a link to submit public comment will 

for such will be provided by Mr. Lehrer. It’s a substantial deviation, so he is asking members to 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

30 
 

review. He will provide a follow up at the next meeting, and he will also follow up with 

Conservation about the impact of the Popponesset spit.  

 

Draft Regional Housing Strategy Invitation for Comment – Planning Department 

intending to submit comments  

Mr. Lehrer commented the draft Regional Housing Strategy was provided to stakeholders for 

comment. He heard from a few and noted that it contemplates or recommends various zoning. 

Some recommended strategies are in conflict with strategies prioritized by this Board and 

Select Board. He put together a draft memo to innumerate what those conflicts were, not to 

change anything, but they will have the final draft of the HPP, and the current regulatory 

board’s conflicts in comparison to their stance.  

 

Ms. Faulkner asked if the CCC has any jurisdiction over this. Mr. Lehrer stated no, this is a 

state program.  

 

Ms. Waygan suggested a town wide inclusionary zoning bylaw that would allow mixed use by 

right in commercial, or allow duplexes and triplexes by right in residential. That third bullet was 

also contemplated by this Board and was denied. That needs to be reported on. We in fact 

struck it from our own HPP. They should put in what we want for our zoning recommendations.  

 

Ms. Faulkner stated we are telling them what have contemplated in the update. This is what 

we talked about and what the Select Board and Planning Board both agreed to. Ms. Waygan 

referenced the entire one page for Mashpee zoning and that they should use what we are 

recommending.   

 

Mr. Lehrer explained that the Commission’s obligation is to address regional needs. They 

specify zoning strategies to address regional needs. If he is a professional planner at a 

regional agency making recommendations, it would be consistent on engagement and a needs 

assessment. He wants to note how the Planning Board voted, identify conflicts, but it would not 

be appropriate to ask them to modify because we have different opinions.  

 

Ms. Waygan disagreed because they are asking for Public Comment. We should report that 

the town rejected one of these bullet points for zoning. We can pick the ones we approve, but 

they are looking for comments! If we don’t make public comment they are going to think we 

agree. One point matches perfectly, and one we outright rejected, the other is by right, and we 

would probably like it by Special Permit.   

 

Ms. Waygan went on to say the Commission could influence their LCP, they work for us. They 

have an entire page devoted to Mashpee. They worked really hard on this. They deserve to 

know we read it, thought about it, and feel differently about some items.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

31 
 

Mr. Lehrer commented this is his memo from his department and if the Board wants it modified 

to let him know. Ms. Waygan said he needs to report what was voted on by the boards. Four 

zoning recommendations in their plan jive with ours. He included a statement about how the 

Board wanted to make the Commission aware some of these strategies are not feasible at this 

time and suggest that the Commission amend page 82 to be consistent with the zoning 

strategies enumerated in the Mashpee Housing Production Plan update.  

 

Ms. Faulkner noted the LCP topics for next meeting. Mr. Richardson will speak on Municipal 

Facilities and Mr. Oakley can do Natural Resources. There will be a normal start time for the 

next meeting.  

 

BOARD MEMBER COMMITTEE REPORTS  

Cape Cod Commission –    No Report  

Charter Review Committee-    No Report  

Community Preservation  

Committee -      No Report  

Design Review-      Fast Signs, on Evergreen Circle, looks good. 

Plan Review-      The building is designed and built at 7,500 

s.f. threshold for sprinklers, the Fire   

Department will follow up if building will require 

sprinklers.  

Environmental Oversight  

Committee-       No Report  

Historic District Commission-    No Report  

 

ADJOURNMENT  

MOTION: 

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to adjourn the meeting of the Planning Board at 10:29PM. 

Seconded by Ms. Waygan. All in favor.  

 

Next Meeting: Wednesday, February 7, 2024 @ 7:00PM 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

 

Christine MacDonald  

Board Secretary  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

32 
 

 

 

 

LIST OF DOCUMENTS 

Additional documents may be available in the Planning Department.  

- Town of Barnstable Notices  

- Town of Falmouth Notices   

 

 

   

 

 
 



kleslie
Typewritten Text
APPROVAL NOT REQUIRED

kleslie
Typewritten Text

kleslie
Typewritten Text

kleslie
Typewritten Text



 

 

 

 

 

February 1, 2024 

 

Mashpee Planning Board 

16 Great Neck Road North  

Mashpee, MA 02649 

 

Attn: Evan Lehrer  

  

Re:  Azalea Lane New Seabury ANR Plan  

 Updated Mylar for Land Court 

BSC file 4-6431.14 

 

Members of the Board, 

 

After a Prefile Review, Land Court has requested edits to the plan to clarify the 

mathematics on the plan and install two bounds. The edits have not changed the layout, 

dimensions, or areas of any of the lots.  

 

Land Court requested that the following information be added to the ANR plan. 

 

1. Change the Plan title to reflect case # 11408-219. 

2. Make lot numbers 1947, 1948 and 1950. 

3. Add reference to the LC Plan number of all abutting lots. 

4. Show the opposite side of Red Brook Road. 

5. Add the chords with bearings for each lots' curve segment along Azalea Lane. 

7. Label the “easement” as proposed "Proposed Easement". 

9. Set bounds in two locations. 

10. Update the date of the field survey. 

  

If you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to contact me directly. 

 

Based on discussions with Evan Lehrer, this re-endorsement does not require a new 

application form or application fee. 

 

Please feel free to call if you have any questions. 

 

Very truly yours, 

BSC Group Inc.  

 
David J Crispin PE, PLS 

Sr. Associate  617 680 3506 



RED BROOK ROAD

FO
U

R SEASO
N

S D
R.

AZALEA LANE(Private)

(Private variable width)

803 Summer Street
Boston, Massachusetts
02127

617 896 4300

IN

NEW SEABURY

LOT 1888

SUBDIVISION
PLAN OF LAND

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

October 5, 2023 

BEING A SUBDIVISION
OF LCP 11408-219

LOT 1888

NOTES:

1. THE PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN IS TO DIVIDE LOT 1888 0N LCC
11408-215 INTO THREE (3) LOTS AND CREATE  USE
EASEMENTS ON LOT 52 AND LOT 35 ON LLC PLAN 14201-C.

2. SEE LC 11408-215 FOR RECORD MONUMENTS FOUND (OFF
SITE).

3. AN ON THE GROUND SURVEY  FOR THIS PLAN WAS
COMPLETED ON 12/20/23 TO L.C. STANDARDS.

 AZALEA LANE

LCP 11408-219
ASSESSOR'S PARCEL 
MAP 110 LOT 99 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 CONSERVATION RESTRICTION #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
85.07'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.02'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S20°18'45"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB/DISK FND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAIL NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
450.62'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S21°15'40"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1887

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1892

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 93

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 94

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORMER LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LCP  # 14201 C LOT 52 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 228653

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LCP  # 14201 E LOT 92  N/F  BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC  CERT # 228653

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 91 N/F NEW SEABURY ENTRANCE NOMINEE TRUST CHRISTOPHER BURDEN TRUSTEE DOC. p

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1887

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1892

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LLC  # 14201 E

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ACCESS AND UTILITY ESMT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LCP # 14201 B LOT 35 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LCP 14201C CERT # 228653

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 36 N/F VACATION RESORTS  INTERNATIONAL CERT # 13236-5933

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERT # 62915

AutoCAD SHX Text
S20°18'45"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
82.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S72°46'54"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
190.61' CALCULATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
191.53' RECORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED USE EASEMENT  AREA = 6,058 SF.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED  USE EASEMENT AREA = 12,942± S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1948  AREA = 2,158± S.F.(PROPOSED 20' ACCESS AND UTILITY EASMENT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1947 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768 AREA=5,457±S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1889 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1890 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1891 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1949 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768 AREA=13,743±S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1848 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW USE EASEMENT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW USE EASEMENT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SELF IMPOSED 5 FOOT BUILDING SETBACK TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE HOUSE # (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
S80°50'05"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N74°03'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1851 N/F BAYSWATER COTTAGES AT  NEW SEABURY LLC CERT # 223768

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB/DISK FND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB/DH SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB/DH SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD N56°28'09"E 34.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD N82°33'21"E 20.02'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD S78°17'35"E 19.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C  2024 BSC Group, Inc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB. NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4-6431.14

AutoCAD SHX Text
New Seabury Homes, LLC  

AutoCAD SHX Text
33 Seanest Drive  

AutoCAD SHX Text
Mashpee, MA 02649

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil\_Drawings\4643109-PLP11.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
I CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAN WAS DRAWN FROM AN ACTUAL SURVEY MADE ON THE GROUND IN  ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAND COURT INSTRUCTIONS  OF 2006 BETWEEN JANUARY 6, 2020, AND DECEMBER 29, 2020 PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR          ZONING DISTRICT: R3 LOCUS IS SUBJECT TO THE NEW SEABURY  SPECIAL PERMIT (NO MINIMUM LOT AREA OR FRONTAGE REGULATION)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASHPEE PLANNING BOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVAL UNDER THE SUBDIVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL LAW NOT REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENDORSEMENT IS NOT A DETERMINATION AS TO CONFORMANCE WITH ZONING REGULATIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRISPIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
J.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAVID

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
No.31306

AutoCAD SHX Text
WADING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK LANDING RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COBBLESTONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT OAK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT NECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED BROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LCC 11408-193

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCUS MAP:  NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
L.C.	EDITSEDITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/15/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.



kleslie
Typewritten Text
NEW BUSINESS

kleslie
Typewritten Text



 

 

Warrant Article ___ :  

To see if the Town will vote to amend Section 174-25 (B)(18) of the Mashpee Zoning Bylaw Table of Use 

regulations by adding the letters “SP” in the column identified as I-1 as follows: 

(18) Indoor recreation facilities 
such as bowling alleys, 
miniature golf, batting cages, 
computerized golf or similar 
simulated sports, video 
games, billiards, aerobics, 
health clubs, dance or 
gymnastics studios, skating 
rinks, indoor go kart facilities, 
swimming pools, tennis or 
racquet clubs etc. by Special 
Permit from the Planning 
Board.  

Residential Commercial Industrial 

R-3 R-5 C-1 C-2 C-3 I-1 

--- --- SP SP SP SP 

 

Explanation:  

This Article would authorize Indoor Recreational Facilities in the I-1 Zoning District by Special Permit. 

Currently, indoor recreation facilities are authorized in only the Commercial Zoning Districts.  



























































kleslie
Typewritten Text
TOWN PLANNER REPORT



THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 

CENTRAL MASSACHUSETTS DIVISION 
10 MECHANIC STREET, SUITE 301 

WORCESTER, MA 01608 
 (508) 792-7600 
 (508) 795-1991 fax 
 www.mass.gov/ago 
 

January 17, 2024 
 

Deborah F. Kaye, Town Clerk 
Town of Mashpee 
16 Great Neck Road North  
Mashpee, MA 02649 

 
Re:  Mashpee Fall Annual Town Meeting of October 16, 2023 -- Case # 11183 
 Warrant Articles # 2, 3, and 4 (Zoning)  
 Warrant Article # 6 (General) 
      

Dear Ms. Kaye: 
 
 Articles 2, 3, 4, and 6 – We approve Articles 2, 3, 4, and 6 adopted at the Mashpee October 
16, 2023 Fall Town Meeting. Our comments on Articles 3 and 6 are provided below.  
 
 Article 3 – Under Article 3 the Town deleted the existing text of Section 174.45.4, 
“Accessory Apartment,” subsection A and inserted new text that allows the property owner of an 
accessory apartment to live in either the accessory apartment or the principal dwelling unit, and 
rent the other unit as follows: 
 

In order for an accessory apartment to be permitted, in addition to meeting all of 
the requirements under subsections B-M, the principal dwelling unit or the 
proposed accessory apartment must be occupied by the property owner identified 
on the latest recorded or registered deed. The property owner may reside in either 
the accessory apartment or in the principal dwelling and rent the other unit to a 
tenant, but may not under any circumstances rent both the principal dwelling and 
the accessory apartment to tenants concurrently. For purposes of this Bylaw, the 
term “property owner” shall include: each person who alone or jointly or severally 
with others: a) has legal title of record to any building, structure, or property subject 
to this Bylaw, or; b) has care, charge, or control of any such building, structure, or 
property in any legal capacity, including but not limited to agent, executor, 
administrator, member or owner of a limited liability company, trustee or guardian 
of the estate of the record holder of legal title; or c) is a lessor under written 
agreement; or d) is the mortgagee in possession; or e) is the recognized agent, 
trustee or other person claiming rights under the record title holder with care, 
charge, or control of the property as a matter of law or as appointed by the courts. 
On an annual basis coinciding with the initial date of issuance of the Building 



2 
 
 

Permit, the property owner shall submit to the Building Inspector sufficient 
evidence to demonstrate the property owner’s occupancy of the principal dwelling 
unit or the accessory apartment. 
 

 Towns can impose conditions on accessory apartments, including requirements regarding 
owner-occupancy. See G.L. c. 40A, § 1A’s definition of “Accessory Apartment.” 1 However, there 
is pending legislation that would amend the definition of “Accessory Apartment” in Section 1A 
and amend G.L. c.40A, § 3, by adding a new paragraph that would prohibit towns from imposing 
owner-occupancy requirements for accessory apartments. See H.4138, “Affordable Homes Act”, 
Sections 12 and 13 (https://malegislature.gov/Bills/193/H4138 ). 2 The Town should discuss the 
pending proposed changes to G.L. c. 40A with Town Counsel.   
 
 Article 6 - Under Article 6 the Town voted to amend the general by-laws to adopt a new 
Chapter 175, “Mashpee Tree Preservation Bylaw.” We approve Article 6 because it does not 

 
1 Section 1A defines “Accessory dwelling unit” as “a self-contained housing unit, inclusive of 
sleeping, cooking and sanitary facilities on the same lot as a principal dwelling, subject to 
otherwise applicable dimensional and parking requirements, that: (i) maintains a separate entrance, 
either directly from the outside or through an entry hall or corridor shared with the principal 
dwelling sufficient to meet the requirements of the state building code for safe egress; (ii) is not 
larger in floor area than 1/2 the floor area of the principal dwelling or 900 square feet, whichever 
is smaller; and (iii) is subject to such additional restrictions as may be imposed by a municipality, 
including but not limited to additional size restrictions, owner-occupancy requirements and 
restrictions or prohibitions on short-term rental of accessory dwelling units.” 
 
2 Section 13 would amend G.L. c. 40A, § 3 to add a new paragraph regarding accessory apartments 
as follows (with emphasis added): 
 

No zoning ordinance or by-law shall prohibit, unreasonably restrict, or require a 
special permit or other discretionary zoning approval for the use of land or 
structures for an accessory dwelling unit, or the rental thereof, in a single-family 
residential zoning district; provided, that the use of land or structures for an 
accessory dwelling unit under this paragraph may be subject to reasonable 
regulations, including but not limited to 310 CMR 15.000 et seq., if applicable, site 
plan review, regulations concerning dimensional setbacks and the bulk and height 
of structures and may be subject to restrictions and prohibitions on short term rental 
as defined in section 1 of chapter 64G. The use of land or structures for an 
accessory dwelling unit under this paragraph shall not require owner occupancy 
of either the accessory dwelling unit or the principal dwelling; provided further, 
that not more than 1 additional parking space shall be required for an accessory 
dwelling unit; and provided further, that no additional parking space shall be 
required for an accessory dwelling located not more than 0.5 miles from a 
commuter rail station, subway station, ferry terminal or bus station. The executive 
office of housing and livable communities may issue guidelines or promulgate 
regulations to carry out the purposes of this paragraph. 

 
 

https://malegislature.gov/Bills/193/H4138


3 
 
 

conflict with the Constitution or laws of the Commonwealth. See Amherst v. Attorney General, 
398 Mass. 793, 795-96 (1986) (requiring inconsistency with state law or the constitution for the 
Attorney General to disapprove a by-law). However, we offer the following comments for the 
Town’s consideration when applying the new Chapter 175.   
 
 I. Summary of Article 6 
 
 Under Article 6 the Town voted to amend the general by-laws to add a new Chapter 175, 
“Mashpee Tree Preservation Bylaw.” The purpose of the new by-law is to encourage the 
preservation and protection of trees on residential, commercial, and industrial lots during building 
construction activities. Section 175-1 states that the by-law “does not prohibit a landowner’s right 
to remove any protected tree.” Rather the by-law allows removal if the property owner provides 
mitigation for the removal of a protected tree. Section 175-1. Section 175-2 defines the terms used 
in the by-law, including the terms “Building Activity;” “Protected Tree;” “Tree Yard;” and “Tree 
Permit,” as follows:  
 

Building Activity: One of the following types of work performed on a lot: 
 

Work performed pursuant to a special permit (as defined in MGL Ch. 40A Sec. 
9 and the Mashpee Zoning Bylaw); 
 
Work performed pursuant to site plan approval (as defined in the Mashpee 
Zoning Bylaw); 
 
Construction of a new dwelling (including after razing an existing dwelling); 
 
Construction of a subdivision; 
 
Construction of a structure or addition that increases the gross floor area of a 
residential, commercial, or industrial structure by 50% or more; 
 
Demolition of a structure(s) with a footprint of 250 square feet or greater; 
 
Construction of any accessory structures requiring a building permit including but 
not limited to sheds greater than 200 square feet, detached garages, pools, retaining 
walls with a height of four feet or greater; or 
 
Clearing, grading, or other site preparation work performed prior to undertaking 
any of the above. 
 
Protected Tree: Any tree with a diameter at breast height (DBH) of six-inches 
(6") or greater of any one of the species listed in Table 2 below. 
 
Tree Yard: A defined area along the perimeter of a lot which is equal to the 
minimum setbacks defined in Section 175-31 of the Mashpee Zoning Bylaw. 
 



4 
 
 

Tree Permit: Formal permission granted to proceed with any building activity 
that affects a Protected Tree(s) 

 
 Section 175-3 prohibits a person from starting “building activity” on a lot without first 
receiving a Tree Permit or an exemption from the Town Planner. Section 175-3, 
“Exemptions,” lists activities that are exempt from the Tree Permit requirement, including 
previously developed properties; lots subject to wetlands jurisdiction; building activity that is 
not included within the by-law’s definition of “building activity;” removal of hazardous, dead 
or diseased trees; and pruning activities. Sections 175-5 and 175-6 require a Tree Protection 
and Mitigation Plan (Plan) as part of the Tree Permit application and state the information that 
must be included in the Plan. The Plan must show the “Tree Yard” location; the location of 
“Protected Trees”, and what mitigation method the property owner intends to use if any 
“Protected Trees” are removed. Section 175-5. If a property owner seeks to remove a 
“Protected Tree,” the property owner must either replant new trees on-site or contribute to the 
Town’s Tree Bylaw Revenue Account. See Sections 175-5 and 175-6.Section 175-10 
authorizes the Planning Board to adopt rules and regulations to effectuate the by-law. Finally, 
Sections 175-11 through 175-16 authorize enforcement of the by-law by stop work orders and 
fines, including using the non-criminal disposition process. 
 
 II. Comments on Chapter 175  
 
 We approve Chapter 175 because it does not conflict with state law. Amherst, 398 
Mass. at 795-96. However, we offer the following comments for the Town’s consideration 
regarding certain approved portions of Chapter 175. 
 
 A. “Tree Bylaw Revenue Account” 
  
 Chapter 175 authorizes the Town Accountant to establish a “Tree Bylaw Revenue 
Account” where the funds collected as part of the by-law’s mitigation requirement are deposited. 
See, Section 175-2, “Definitions.” Under the Tree Bylaw Revenue Account, Town Meeting may 
appropriate funds for the purpose of “maintaining, acquiring and/or installing trees to beautify the 
Town . . . .” Id. It is unclear what type of  account the Tree Bylaw Revenue Account and whether 
it is intended as a revolving fund. The Town’s use of this account must be consistent with G.L. c. 
44, § 53, which requires all money received by the Town to be deposited into the Town’s general 
fund. 
 
 General Laws Chapter 44, § 53 provides that “[a]ll moneys received by a city, town or 
district officer or department, except as otherwise provided by special acts and except fees 
provided for by statute, shall be paid by such officers or department upon their receipt into the city, 
town or district treasury.” In the absence of any general or special law to the contrary, funds of the 
sort contemplated here would have to be deposited with the Town Treasurer and made part of the 
town’s general fund. An example of such legislative authority includes G.L. c. 44, §§ 53E ½, which 
states as follows: 
 

Notwithstanding section 53, a . . . town may authorize by by-law . . . the use of 1 
or more revolving funds by 1 or more municipal agencies, boards, departments or 



5 
 
 

offices, which shall be accounted for separately from all other monies in the . . . 
town and to which shall be credited any fees, charges or other receipts from the 
departmental programs or activities supported by the revolving fund. . . . A 
revolving fund shall be established pursuant to this section by by-law . . . The by-
law . . . shall specify for each fund: (1) the programs or activities for which the 
revolving fund may be expended; (2) the departmental receipts in connection with 
those programs or activities that shall be credited to the revolving fund; (3) the 
board, department or officer authorized to expend from such fund; and (4) any 
reporting or other requirements the city or town may impose.  

 
 For the Town to deposit any money received under the new by-law in a revolving fund, the 
Town would have to comply with the requirements of G.L. c. 44, § 53E ½. In the absence of 
compliance with G.L. c. 44, § 53E ½, or some other statutorily created fund, the mitigation funds 
collected as part of Chapter 175’s provisions must be deposited with the Town Treasurer and made 
part of the Town’s general fund pursuant to G.L. c. 44, § 53. The Town should consult with Town 
Counsel on the proper application of the new by-law. 
 
 B. Multi-Family Developments and Solar Energy Systems 
 
 Chapter 175 applies to all building activity (as defined in the by-law) in the Town unless 
exempted. The Town should consult closely with Town Counsel to make sure that the new by-law 
is not applied in a manner to unlawfully delay or prohibit development projects in the Town, 
including multi-family developments and solar energy system developments. This is particularly 
important when applying the by-law’s requirements to a solar energy system because if Chapter 
175 is used to deny a solar energy system or is applied in a way that makes it impracticable or 
uneconomical to a build solar energy system and related structures, such application would run a 
serious risk of violating G.L. c. 40A, § 3. See Tracer Lane II Realty, LLC v. City of Waltham , 
489 Mass. 775, 781 (2022) (Waltham’s prohibition on solar energy systems in all but one to two 
percent of its land area violates the solar energy provisions of G.L. c. 40A, § 3; see also PLH LLC 
v. Town of Ware, No. 18 MISC 000648 (GHP), 2019 WL 7201712, at *3 (Mass. Land Ct. Dec. 
24, 2019), aff'd, 102 Mass. App. Ct. 1103 (2022), (“the review of the municipality conducted under 
the bylaw's special permit provisions must be limited and narrowly applied in a way that is not 
unreasonable, is not designed or employed to prohibit the use or the operation of the protected use, 
and exists where necessary to protect the health, safety or welfare.”) The Town should consult 
with Town Counsel on this issue. 
 
Note: Pursuant to G.L. c. 40, § 32, neither general nor zoning by-laws take effect unless the Town 

has first satisfied the posting/publishing requirements of that statute.  Once this statutory 
duty is fulfilled, (1) general by-laws and amendments take effect on the date these posting and 
publishing requirements are satisfied unless a later effective date is prescribed in the by-law, 
and (2) zoning by-laws and amendments are deemed to have taken effect from the date they 
were approved by the Town Meeting, unless a later effective date is prescribed in the by-law. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 
 

 
Very truly yours, 

 
       ANDREA JOY CAMPBELL 
       ATTORNEY GENERAL 

       Kelli E. Gunagan   

       By: Kelli E. Gunagan 
       Assistant Attorney General 
       Municipal Law Unit 
       10 Mechanic Street, Suite 301 
       Worcester, MA 01608 
       (508) 792-7600  
 
 
cc:   Town Counsel Patrick J. Costello 
 
 



kleslie
Typewritten Text
CORRESPONDENCE

kleslie
Typewritten Text





Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection

eDEP Transaction Copy

Here is the file you requested for your records. 

To retain a copy of this file you must save and/or print.

Username:

Transaction ID:

Document:

Size of File: 

Status of Transaction: 

Date and Time Created:

Note: This file only includes forms that were part of your 

transaction as of the date and time indicated above. If you need 

a more current copy of your transaction, return to eDEP and 

select to “Download a Copy” from the Current Submittals page.

1653797

1/24/2024:10:56:30 AM

1080.30K

EBELAIR

Groundwater Discharge Monitoring Report Forms

Submitted



Important:When
filling out forms on
the computer, use
only the tab key to
move your cursor 
do not use the
return key. 

A. Facility Information
1. Facility name, address:

SOUTH CAPE VILLAGE
a. Name

672 FALMOUTH ROAD/RTE. 28
b. Street Address

MASHPEE MA 02649
c. City d. State e. Zip Code

2. Contact information:

MYLES OSTROFF
a. Name of Facility Contact Person

6174311097 myles@chartweb.com
b. Telephone Number c. email address

3. Sampling information:

12/8/2023 RI  ANALYTICAL
a. Date Sampled (mm/dd/yyyy) b. Laboratory Name

BRENT PLANT
c. Analysis Performed By (Name)

B. Form Selection
1. Please select Form Type and Sampling Month & Frequency

Discharge Monitoring Report  2023 Dec Monthly

All forms for submittal have been completed.

2. This is the last selection.

3. Delete the selected form.

gdpdls 20150915.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Groundwater Permit Daily Log Sheet • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit
DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number

2023 DEC MONTHLY
3. Sampling Month & Frequency



D. Contaminant Analysis Information
For "0", below detection limit, less than (<) value, or not detected, enter "ND"
TNTC = too numerous to count. (Fecal results only)
NS = Not Sampled

1. Parameter/Contaminant 2. Influent 3. Effluent 4. Effluent Method

Units Detection limit

BOD 100 3.6 3.0
MG/L

TSS 120 6.0 2.0
MG/L

TOTAL SOLIDS 610
MG/L

AMMONIAN 14
MG/L

NITRATEN 0.97 0.050
MG/L

TOTAL NITROGEN(NO3+NO2+TKN) 4.1 0.50
MG/L

OIL & GREASE ND 0.50
MG/L

infeffrpblank.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Groundwater Permit Discharge Monitoring Report • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit
DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number

2023 DEC MONTHLY
3. Sampling Month & Frequency



Important:When
filling out forms on
the computer, use
only the tab key to
move your cursor 
do not use the
return key. 

A. Facility Information
1. Facility name, address:

SOUTH CAPE VILLAGE
a. Name

672 FALMOUTH ROAD/RTE. 28
b. Street Address

MASHPEE MA 02649
c. City d. State e. Zip Code

2. Contact information:

MYLES OSTROFF
a. Name of Facility Contact Person

6174311097 myles@chartweb.com
b. Telephone Number c. email address

3. Sampling information:

12/31/2023 WHITEWATER
a. Date Sampled (mm/dd/yyyy) b. Laboratory Name

JAMIE STEWART
c. Analysis Performed By (Name)

B. Form Selection
1. Please select Form Type and Sampling Month & Frequency

Daily Log Sheet  2023 Dec Daily

All forms for submittal have been completed.

2. This is the last selection.

3. Delete the selected form.

gdpdls 20150915.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Groundwater Permit Daily Log Sheet • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit
DAILY LOG SHEET

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number

2023 DEC DAILY
3. Sampling Month & Frequency



C. Daily Readings/Analysis Information

Date Effluent
Flow GPD

Reuse
Flow GPD

Irrigation
Flow GPD

Turbidity Influent pH Effluent
pH

Chlorine
Residual
(mg/l)

UV
Intensity

(%)

1 9107 7.6
2 9107
3 9107
4 6269 7.6
5 15465 7.9
6 8500 7.5
7 8628 7.3
8 10868 7.3
9 10868
10 10868
11 11127 7.1
12 11160 7.2
13 8889 7.1
14 11124 7.3
15 10434 7.3
16 10434
17 10434
18 11049 7.3
19 9037 7.2
20 11119 7.3
21 13659 7.3
22 9678 7.3
23 9678
24 9678
25 9678
26 7061 7.6
27 9418 7
28 10951 7.1
29 8519 7.1
30 8519
31 8519

gdpdls.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Groundwater Permit Daily Log Sheet • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit
DAILY LOG SHEET

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number

2023 DEC DAILY
3. Sampling Month & Frequency



Important:When
filling out forms on
the computer, use
only the tab key to
move your cursor 
do not use the
return key. 

A. Facility Information
1. Facility name, address:

SOUTH CAPE VILLAGE
a. Name

672 FALMOUTH ROAD/RTE. 28
b. Street Address

MASHPEE MA 02649
c. City d. State e. Zip Code

2. Contact information:

MYLES OSTROFF
a. Name of Facility Contact Person

6174311097 myles@chartweb.com
b. Telephone Number c. email address

3. Sampling information:

12/30/2023 WHITEWATER
a. Date Sampled (mm/dd/yyyy) b. Laboratory Name

JAMIE STEWART
c. Analysis Performed By (Name)

B. Form Selection
1. Please select Form Type and Sampling Month & Frequency

Monitoring Well Data Report  2023 Dec Monthly

All forms for submittal have been completed.

2. This is the last selection.

3. Delete the selected form.

gdpdls 20150915.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Groundwater Permit Daily Log Sheet • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit
MONITORING WELL DATA REPORT

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number

2023 DEC MONTHLY
3. Sampling Month & Frequency



C. Contaminant Analysis Information
For "0", below detection limit, less than (<) value, or not detected, enter "ND"
TNTC = too numerous to count. (Fecal results only)
NS = Not Sampled
DRY = Not enough water in well to sample.

<

Parameter/Contaminant P1 P2 P4 P6

Units Well #: 1 Well #: 2 Well #: 3 Well #: 4 Well #: 5 Well #: 6

PH 6.1 DRY 5.9 6.1
S.U.

STATIC WATER LEVEL 18.9 DRY 47.8 51.1
FEET

SPECIFIC CONDUCTANCE 966 DRY 777 1009
UMHOS/C

mwdgwpblank.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Monitoring Well Data for Groundwater Permit • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit
MONITORING WELL DATA REPORT

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number

2023 DEC MONTHLY
3. Sampling Month & Frequency



Important:When
filling out forms on
the computer, use
only the tab key to
move your cursor 
do not use the
return key.

Any person signing
a document under
314 CMR 5.14(1) or
(2) shall make the
following
certification

If you are filing
electronically and
want to attach
additional
comments, select
the check box.

Facility Information
SOUTH CAPE VILLAGE
a. Name

672 FALMOUTH ROAD/RTE. 28
b. Street Address

MASHPEE MA 02649
c. City d. State e. Zip Code

Certification
“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in
accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted.
Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the
information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate and complete. I am aware that there
are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations.”

ELIZABETH BELAIR 1/24/2024

a. Signature b. Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

Reporting Package Comments
FACILITY WAS IN FULL COMPLIANCE WITH ALL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS FOR THE MONTH

gdpdls 20150915.doc • rev. 09/15/15 Groundwater Permit • Page 1 of 1

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
Bureau of Resource Protection  Groundwater Discharge Program

Groundwater Permit

668
1. Permit Number

202675640
2. Tax identification Number


















































	Mashpee Planning Board 01.03
	1-17-24 re-endorsement request
	AZALEA-AVE ANR 1-15-24 - Copy
	Sheets and Views
	ANR


	IndoorRecFacility_May2024
	NS Phase III Phase IV and Oceanfront Bond Release Request
	Mashpee11183FA_App
	Correspondence
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



